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Corporate Profile

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation is a leading nonstandard personal auto insurer. Its innovative 

automobile insurance products and services are tailored to meet the diverse needs of consumers. Infinity 

operates primarily in 17 target states.

opportunities 

Unlimited



For the Twelve Months Ended

(in millions) 2004  2003  % Change

Earnings Statement Data:
 Gross Written Premiums $  956.6 $  979.4 (2%)
 Net Written Premiums $  917.8 $  817.6 12%
 Total Revenues $  951.8 $  769.0 24%
 Net Earnings $   96.4 $   58.2 66%
 Net Earnings per Share—Basic $   4.69 $   2.86 64%
 Net Earnings per Share—Diluted $   4.62 $   2.83 63%
Balance Sheet Data:
 Total Assets $1,944.9 $1,902.7 2%
 Total Shareholders’ Equity $  547.4 $  455.4 20%
 Book Value per Share $  26.60 $  22.38 19%

Financial Highlights
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“By the fourth quarter, 
we saw double-digit growth in premiums.”

To Our Shareholders, Customers, 
Agents and Employees:

This annual report marks Infinity’s second year as a public company. 
It has again been a successful one. Net earnings of $96.4 million 
were 66% higher than in 2003; diluted net earnings per share 
were 63% higher; book value per share was up by 19%; and 
return on average equity soared to 17%. In early 2005, we took 
further actions to enhance shareholder value by increasing our 
dividend by 9.1% and putting in place a $50 million share repur-
chase program. Our total return to shareholders since our IPO in 
February 2003 is 120%.

Strong performance during 2004 and a conservatively managed 
balance sheet contributed to our retaining an A.M. Best financial 
strength rating of “A.” In today’s competitive environment, maybe 
more than ever, we see this “Excellent” rating as an imperative when 
competing for agents who need to assure that their customers are 
placed with a stable and strong insurer.

A Strong Finish Leads To A Promising Start
The theme for this year’s Report, “Unlimited Opportunities,” is much 
more than an optimistic expression of the possibilities we see in 
the coming year. The relevance of this theme has as much to do 
with where we have been as where we see ourselves heading. 
This is because opportunities for us in 2005 began with a well 
developed operating strategy, the setting of both short and long-
term priorities, and the efforts of employees willing to devote them-
selves to, and be held accountable for, the successful execution of 
a sound business plan.

In last year’s letter, I identified the following priorities for 2004.  
I would grade our overall performance as a success, but I see 
room for continued improvement in many of these areas in 2005.

•  Return on equity of 12% or better. Our return for the year 
exceeded 17%—by any standard, an outstanding achievement. 
Strong bottom line growth in 2004 translated into a solid total 
return for our shareholders.

•  Pricing discipline. Success in our business starts with rate ade-
quacy and accuracy. If you miss on either one, you will undoubt-
edly be exposed by a telltale combined ratio. Any weakness 
will quickly be discovered by a marketplace that shops for the 
best available price. So you cannot afford to miss your mark. In 
2004, our outstanding combined ratio of 89.1% validates that 
we kept our eye on the target.

•  Gross premium growth of 5%–10%. The lack of progress in this 
area was a disappointment for me. Premium growth for most of 
2004 proved to be a challenge, as we continued to reduce 
writings in unprofitable non-target states, while new products in 
target states had not yet gained momentum sufficient to offset 
this reduction. But we stuck to our plan of expediting the roll-out 
of new products and the appointment of agents to market them. 
By the fourth quarter, we saw double-digit growth in premiums, 
but not enough to achieve our 5% annual growth target.

•  Exceptional service. We made significant progress in 2004, but 
I see much more for us to do in the coming year. Our customer 
service unit handled over three million telephone calls from 
agents and policyholders, and attained a 95% quality rating. 

James R. Gober
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
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Our claims staff handled over 120,000 claims in 2004, with 
over 90% of the claims in our Franchise States being handled 
on a face-to-face basis. This approach resulted in more control 
over loss costs and better customer service—a win-win for the 
customer and the Company.

•  Lower operating expenses. Our expense goal was to drive our 
ratio closer to 20%. We ended the year 2004 with a statutory 
expense ratio of 22.5%, which we estimate to be over three 
points better than that of the industry. A lower expense ratio 
means more competitive rates for our customers and better 
returns for our shareholders, so we will continue to strive to 
reduce operating costs until we reach our goal.

•  Fortify relationships with customers, agents and employees. 
This is a priority for Infinity every day we conduct business, and 
we made great strides in 2004.

  To improve our market share with our agents, we continued to 
provide better support and service, including the introduction  
of state-of-the-art desktop software, enhancements to the P.A.S.S. 
program, and continued progress toward paper-less workflow 
between Infinity and our producers. Enhanced P.A.S.S. benefits 
included new training classes, more support at community events 
and an offering of Errors and Omissions insurance for our agents 
through a third party insurer. By the end of 2004, one in four of 
our agents were members of P.A.S.S. in those states in which 
we rolled-out the program.

  We also continued to expand relationships with strategic partners. 
These are relationships where a standard and preferred auto 
insurance carrier uses Infinity for their non-standard auto risks. 
Premium growth in 2004 attributable to this business source was 
10.7%. We will be adding new partners in 2005, and expect 
to grow the business in this important distribution channel.

  Customers and agents benefited in 2004 from broader roll-out 
of our three-tiered product structure. By year end, 11 of our 17 
target states had the Low Cost product, and 14 of 17 had the 
Value-Added product. Rolling-out our products in the remaining 
target states and expanding into several new states are high 
priorities in 2005.

  To better service our agents and policyholders, we moved to a 
regional organizational structure in late 2004. This structure 
places marketing, product management and claims operations 
in each of the four regions under common management. Those 
functions had previously reported to a manager responsible for 
that department on a countrywide basis. We’re convinced that 
the new structure will increase focus on executing our business 
plan, ensure accountability, and foster camaraderie among  
our employees.

  Over the past decade, we have actively developed close rela-
tionships with agents serving the Hispanic market by supporting 
businesses and customers in their local communities. In 2004, 
84% of our co-op advertising dollars was spent on advertise-
ments in Spanish. We also began a program to help Hispanics, 
as well as others, obtain licenses to become insurance agents. 
We supported and attended a host of events within the Latino 
Community and were awarded a Certificate of Congressio-
nal Recognition for our contributions to the success of a toy 
drive in California that benefited underprivileged children and  
their families.

  Our solid progress in 2004 could not have been accomplished 
without the hard work and dedication of our employees. Infinity 
recognized those efforts by paying nearly 9% of employee 
compensation in performance bonuses and incentive compen-
sation, including over 4% profit sharing to the employees’ 401(K) 
program. New assistance programs along with training and 
education programs were also introduced during the year. We 
are now establishing a wellness program so that all of our 
employees can enjoy a fulfilling and healthy career at Infinity.

All in all, 2004 was a very good year. As we set our sights to the 
open road ahead, we see opportunities for profitable growth in 
2005 as well. We are mindful, nonetheless, that the personal 
automobile insurance market today will be a more difficult one in 
which to operate than in 2004. The challenges we must prepare 
for include: more intense competition for independent agents’ busi-
ness; maintenance of disciplined and accurate pricing in a soft 
market cycle while striving to improve market share; and expense 
management while aggressively pursuing new business opportuni-
ties in current and expanding markets. Overall, we feel prepared, 
but not over-confident, to confront these challenges and to take full 
advantage of the opportunities in today’s marketplace. We are on 
a good course because of the commitment our people have to 
improve all phases of our operations. I know this because I see 
and experience it everyday. My thanks to all 2,000 of our employ-
ees and our thousands of independent agents who have contrib-
uted so much to the past year’s success and upon whom our future 
success is dependent. And lastly, thanks to our shareholders for 
believing in us and our strategy. Your support and confidence is 
deeply appreciated.

James R. Gober
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
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satisfied customers

more

An Opportunity to Meet Our Customers’ Needs
Our market approach is based on the premise that our customers are not a homogenous group. There-
fore, our marketing strategy is designed to accommodate various customer segments that make lifestyle 
choices based on their specific needs. This approach is materially different from companies that market 
to consumers with a one-size-fits-all strategy.

Our business development staff describes our marketing strategy as the 4 Ps—Segmented Products, 
Segmented Pricing, Segmented Agency Plant and Segmented Promotion.

Segmented Products—We offer three distinct personal auto products, each one designed to fit the lifestyle 
and needs of a different customer base:

Our Low Cost policy is designed for individuals who may have blemishes on their driving records or 
for those who want to buy insurance to meet their state’s minimum insurance requirements. These 
individuals are primarily focused on obtaining basic coverage at the lowest price.

Our Value-Added policy is designed for those customers who want to buy insurance to protect their 
assets, but may have a violation or two on their driving record. This policy has broader coverage 
than the Low Cost policy.

Our Premier policy is designed for the customer who typically has a clean driving record and wants 
higher limits and even broader coverage.

Segmented Pricing—We customize our rates using multi-variant analysis based on risk attributes and 
coverages. Each of our three personal auto products has a separate rating plan.

Segmented Agency Plant—We believe that different insurance agencies market to different clientele.  
As a result, we segment our agency force and offer them the personal auto products that best fit their 
customers’ needs.

Segmented Promotion—Our promotional efforts are also aligned with the product and service expectations 
of our customers and our agents.

We began this successful approach to meeting our customers’ and producers’ unique needs over ten years 
ago in California. In 2005, we will continue to implement this segmented strategy in our other target states.

In 2004 we continued to build a foundation for growth by 
introducing new products, appointing new agents in our 
target states, and bolstering our overall marketing efforts. 
Progress in each of these areas has given us momentum in 
2005 to transform opportunities into success.



With electronic enforcement of compulsory insurance laws, police officers will be 
able to verify from their vehicles that drivers have automobile insurance.

An Opportunity to Serve the Uninsured Motorist Population
According to the latest study by the Insurance Research Council, there are over 18 million uninsured motorists 
in our 17 target states. One out of every six drivers in those states is driving without auto insurance. For many 
of these uninsured drivers, the cost of insurance is a major factor in deciding whether or not to purchase a 
policy. The lack of enforcement of the states’ auto insurance laws is also a major consideration. However, 
many states are implementing or considering electronic enforcement of compulsory auto insurance laws. As 
a result, there is increased risk and penalties for those who continue to drive without insurance.

This pool of uninsured drivers is one targeted customer segment for our Low Cost policy. It is a policy that 
offers basic coverage, but with its lower average premiums, those who would not otherwise buy insurance 
have a more affordable option. In 2004, we successfully implemented this product in six additional states 
and now have it available in 11 of our 17 target states. In 2005, we will be implementing this product in 
our remaining target states and will continue to work so that consumers are aware that they have a low 
cost alternative.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 5

to serve uninsured motorists

opportunities



to strengthen distribution channels

opportunities

An Opportunity to Strengthen Our Distribution Channel
We are currently the second largest writer of nonstandard automobile insurance through the independent 
agency channel, with over 14,000 independent agents and brokers selling our products. Our commitment 
to supporting this channel has not wavered, and our level of support will allow us to strengthen our relation-
ship with our producers in the future.

Improved technology is one of the ways we are making it easier for our agents to write business with us. 
Agents can access real-time underwriting, claims and policy information via the Internet. They also have 
real-time access to underwriting reports such as MVRs and CLUE. In addition, policies can be endorsed 
on-line with the premium change available to the agent immediately. Our plans for 2005 include the con-
tinued roll-out of our web-based rating software and a paper-less initiative to reduce the number of hard 
copy documents that flow between us and our producers.

In addition to technology, we can strengthen our relationship with our agents via our P.A.S.S. Program. 
P.A.S.S. is an acronym for Providing Agents Services and Support and is the cornerstone of the support 
systems for our producers. The program was an outgrowth of a national agents survey we conducted to gain 
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a better understanding of their business and personal needs. We learned that because many of our agents 
are small business owners, they need assistance with training and business development. Their training 
needs are being met by Infinity University, which includes the College of Insurance Skills, the College of 
Technology and the College of Producer Development. Our Agency Development Program within P.A.S.S. 
addresses their business development needs by designing advertising campaigns that utilize marketing 
media such as radio, television and newspapers. This type of support sends a powerful message to our 
agents that Infinity wants to be their long-term strategic partner. And while the program is now available in 
nine of our 17 target states, we have the opportunity to increase the number of P.A.S.S. members in those 

nine states in addition to introducing the program in the remaining eight states.

“ Infinity’s co-op ad program is by far the best and easiest program we have ever 
used. The ad campaigns are diverse and allow an agency to market to different 
consumer segments.”

—David S. Weaver, Donald R. Weaver Insurance Agency

to strengthen distribution channels

opportunities



opportunities



“ The Infinity-HSA holiday toy Drive and celebration is a 
wonderful example of the impact a company can have on 
the community. I am proud to recognize Infinity for their 
partnership with the Human Services Association. Their 
efforts have certainly brightened the holiday season for 
many underprivileged children and their families.”

An Opportunity to Expand Our Hispanic Market Presence
We also see an opportunity to expand our already sizeable presence in the rapidly growing Hispanic 
market. According to the 2000 U.S. Census Bureau data, the Hispanic market is estimated to be nearly 
13% of the total U.S. population. In our top six states, nearly 20% of the driving population is estimated 
to be Hispanic.

We first gained experience with this market in California and have an understanding of how best to 
acquire and retain this business. Over the past decade, we have solidified relationships with agents who 
serve the Hispanic market by supporting their businesses and customers in their local communities. We 
have bilingual customer service representatives; we translate documents such as billing statements into 
Spanish; and we advertise in Spanish through direct mail, in newspapers and on television. We also join 
our agents in events within the Latino Community.

Our focus on this fast-growing segment is quite evident when you consider that approximately 50% of 
our customers in California have Hispanic surnames. We consider our position in this niche, including the 
strength of the Infinity brand in this segment, to be a significant competitive advantage. By using the expertise 
we gained in the California market, we are now expanding our Hispanic marketing efforts to our other 
target states. States such as Arizona, Texas and Florida all have growing Hispanic populations that 
afford us a tremendous opportunity to grow our market share in this very important segment.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 9
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Approximately 600 people are employed at our corporate headquarters in Birmingham, Alabama. In 

addition to the Executive staff, our Birmingham office houses Product Management, Business Develop-

ment, Claims, Corporate Accounting, Information Technology, as well as our largest Customer Service 

Call Center.

Our Corporate Headquarters will be moving in April 2005. Our new address, effective May 1, 2005, will be:

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

3700 Colonnade Parkway

Birmingham, AL  35243

(205) 870-4000

Birmingham, Alabama

our new headquarters



Cerritos, California is the home of our largest claims office and training facility, where our field adjusters 

and appraisers are dispatched to respond to claims within 24 hours of a report. Countrywide, Infinity 

employs 950 claims professionals, which are assigned to 32 field branch offices and six regional offices.

Cerritos, California

from coast



Our Alpharetta office is our largest office outside of Birmingham. Employees in Pricing, Product Development, 

Central Claims Operations and Customer Service Call Centers, 475 in all, are assigned to this office.

Alpharetta, Georgia

to coast



Our 200 employees in Irving, Texas moved into newly leased space in 2004. Our operations at this office 

include our second largest Customer Service Call Center as well as our largest computer processing facility 

outside of Birmingham.

Irving, Texas

new offices

Trim



to improve margins

opportunities

An Opportunity to Improve Margins
While meeting our customers’ needs and building great agent relationships are important to our success, in the final analysis, our 
prices must be competitive. In order to offer competitive prices, we must be mindful of our operating expenses. Since the end of 
2001, we have reduced writings in our non-target states by over $200 million, or approximately 20% of our total book. We took 
this action in order to improve profit margins and returns to investors. During the same time period, we were able to keep our 
expense ratio relatively flat. This was accomplished through our consolidation efforts that resulted in substantial cost savings. We 
now have the opportunity to improve margins by reducing our expense ratio through continued cost saving initiatives as well as 
the leverage that will result from growing our premiums. Our target is to have an expense ratio of 20% or below, which will give 
us an expense advantage and allow us to keep our products competitively priced and improve our underwriting margins.

Unlimited Opportunities
The road in 2005 is one on which we look to strengthen our business by taking advantage of the many opportunities before us. 
Those opportunities can be translated into the following priorities:

•  Expand our unique marketing strategy, which has been so successful in California, in our remaining target states.

•  Pursue two niches of the market that afford us the best growth prospects: the uninsured motorist population by offering our  
Low Cost policy that meets compulsory insurance laws; and the growing Hispanic market in states such as California, Florida, 
Arizona and Texas.

•  Solidify relationships with our agents, brokers and strategic partners by introducing innovative support programs, much like 
P.A.S.S., which enables our producers to operate more efficiently and effectively.

•  Improve operating efficiencies to achieve an operating expense ratio of 20% or lower to keep our products competitively 
priced and to improve our profit margin.

The successful pursuit of each of these opportunities will enable 
us to reach the ultimate goal of creating long-term value for our 
shareholders.



Pro Forma(a)  

(in millions, except per share data) 2004  2003  2002  2001  2000 

Earnings Statement Data:
 Gross written premiums(b) $ 956.6 $ 979.4 $ 1,067.4 $ 1,127.6 $ 1,210.8
 Net written premiums 917.8 817.6 687.3 902.9 1,207.0
 Net earned premiums $ 872.3 $ 698.7 $ 753.1 $ 1,066.3 $ 1,172.2
 Total revenue 951.8 769.0 817.2 1,145.4 1,245.2
 Net income 96.4 58.2 39.9 0.6 (51.9)
  Realized (gains) losses, after-tax (9.2) (0.6) 4.4  3.8  3.5 

 Operating income $ 87.2 $ 57.6 $ 44.3 $ 4.4 $ (48.4)
 Per share—diluted
  Net earnings $ 4.62 $ 2.83 $ 1.96 $ 0.03 $ (2.55)
  Operating earnings $ 4.18 $ 2.79 $ 2.18 $ 0.22 $ (2.38)
 Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.22 $ 0.165 $ — $ — $ —
 Combined ratio 89.1% 92.5% 96.1% 104.9% 109.0%
Balance Sheet Data:
 Total assets $ 1,944.9 $ 1,902.7 $ 1,729.7 $ 1,960.9 $ 1,961.2
 Long-term debt $ 199.3 $ 195.5 $ 55.0 $ 55.0 $ 55.0
 Total shareholders’ equity 547.4 455.4 386.8 507.8 559.2
 Book value per share $ 26.60 $ 22.38 $ 19.01 $ 24.95 $ 27.48
 Return on equity (ex FAS 115, based on operating earnings) 18.6% 14.7% 10.2% 0.8% (9.0%)
 Average basic shares outstanding 20.6 20.3 20.3 20.3 20.3
 Average diluted shares outstanding 20.9 20.6 20.3 20.3 20.3
 Period-end shares outstanding 20.6 20.5 20.3 20.3 20.3

(a)  The pro forma results for years 2002 and prior combine the separate income statements and balance sheets for Infinity’s nonstandard auto subsidiaries (“NSA Group”) and the 
personal insurance business assumed by Infinity as part of the initial public offering completed in February 2003. Pro forma adjustments have been made for the following items:

   i. investment income on the $125.3 million portfolio transferred with the Assumed Agency Business at its market yield of 4.4%;
   ii. interest expense on the $55 million note issued in December 2002;
   iii. income tax effects on applicable items; and
   iv. pro forma shares outstanding represent shares outstanding as of the date of the initial public offering.
(b)  Shown gross of all reinsurance for both the NSA and Assumed Agency Business. The 2003 amount excludes $48 million of unearned premium transferred with the Assumed 

Agency Business on January 1, 2003.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Selected Financial Data 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains certain statements that may be deemed to be 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934. All statements in this report not dealing with 
historical results are forward-looking and are based on estimates, 
assumptions, and projections. Statements which include the words 
“believes,” “expects,” “may,” “should,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” 
“estimates,” or the negative version of those words and similar 
statements of a future or forward-looking nature identify forward-
looking statements. Examples of such forward-looking statements 
include statements relating to: expectations concerning market 
conditions, premiums, growth, earnings, investment activities, 
expected losses, rate changes and loss experience.

Actual results could differ materially from those expected by Infinity 
depending on certain risks and uncertainties including but not limited 
to: changes in economic conditions and financial markets (including 
interest rates), the adequacy or accuracy of Infinity’s pricing 
methodologies, the actions of competitors, the time to receive 
approval for the rollout of new programs and requested rate 
changes, judicial and regulatory developments affecting the 
automobile insurance industry, the outcome of pending litigation 
against Infinity, weather conditions (including the severity and 
frequency of storms, hurricanes, snowfalls, hail, and winter conditions 
and changes in driving patterns and loss trends. Infinity undertakes 
no obligation to publicly update or revise any of the forward-
looking statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 13



OVERVIEW

References to Infinity, unless the context requires otherwise, include the 
combined operations of Atlanta Casualty Company, Infinity Insurance 
Company, Leader Insurance Company and Windsor Insurance 
Company (collectively the “NSA Group”) and the in-force personal 
insurance business assumed through a reinsurance contract (the 
“Assumed Agency Business”) from American Financial Group Inc.’s 
(“AFG”) principal property and casualty subsidiary, Great 
American Insurance Company (“GAI”). Unless indicated otherwise, 
the financial information herein is presented on a GAAP basis.

Infinity’s profitability continued to improve in 2004. Diluted earnings 
per share increased 63% from $2.83 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2003 to $4.62 for the same period in 2004. Net 
earnings also increased substantially from $58.2 million for 2003 
to $96.4 million in 2004. Return on equity for 2004 increased to 
18.6%, up from 14.7% in 2003. 

Increased earnings and returns were substantially a result of 
continued improvement in underwriting profitability. Gross of a 
reinsurance agreement with American Re-Insurance Company 
(“American Re”) under which a portion of the NSA Group’s auto 
physical damage business was ceded, GAAP Combined Ratios, 
which are the ratios of the sum of losses, loss adjustment expenses 
and underwriting expenses to net earned premiums, improved by 
4.5 points from 2003 to 2004. Approximately 3.0 points of this 
was a result of $15 million of favorable loss reserve development 
from prior accident years, as compared with $14 million of 
unfavorable development in 2003. Underwriting margins for both 
2003 and 2004 were substantially better than average over the 
last five to ten years. Since 2002, Infinity and other industry 
participants have enjoyed increases in insurance rates charged to 
policyholders, as well as lower claims frequencies (i.e. number of 
claims per insurance policy issued) and moderate claims severities 
(i.e. average cost per claim).

Investment income in 2004 increased $8.5 million over that in 
2003, primarily as a result of lower interest credited to reinsurers 
on funds held balances. The American Re agreement was commuted 
on December 31, 2004 and was not renewed for 2005. In 
addition, average investment balances increased 11%, mostly from 
cash generated through operations and the proceeds from the  
July 2003 term loan (Refer to Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for more information). Offsetting this increase in average 
investment balances were lower yields on the portfolio, as overall 
market rates remained at historically low levels. Infinity continued 
to invest over 95% of its available funds in fixed income and  
cash equivalent securities. The average duration for the fixed 
income portfolio fell to 4.1 years as compared with 4.7 years at  
December 31, 2003. 

Book value per share increased 18.8%, from $22.38 at December 31, 
2003 to $26.60 at December 31, 2004 from the contribution of 
earnings in excess of shareholder dividends.

Revenues increased for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2004 to $951.8 million, up 23.8% as compared with the same 
period in 2003. This was a result of lower utilization of reinsurance 
in 2004, an increase in investment income for reasons cited earlier, 
and an increase in capital gains from securities sales.

Premiums written gross of all reinsurance for 2004 actually fell 4.1% 
as compared with that in 2003. As of December 31, 2004, Infinity 
had 713,000 policies in force, a 0.3% increase over that at 
December 31, 2003. In 2001, Infinity instituted a program to 
shed under-performing business in several states where it either 
lacked critical mass to operate efficiently or where the regulatory 
and competitive environments impeded Infinity from achieving 
adequate returns. For these Non-Focus States, premiums written for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 and policies in 
force at December 31, 2004 fell 47.7% and 31.6%, respectively, 
as compared with the same periods one year prior. Moreover, since 
2002 Infinity has undertaken a program to roll out its three-tiered 
product structure to agents in its 17 Focus States. In addition, during 
this same period, Infinity appointed new agents or re-appointed 
agents (with whom it had existing agreements for the previous 
generation of products) to market the most recent generation of 
products. As a result of these efforts, in the Focus States, Infinity’s 
premiums written for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 
and policies-in-force at December 31, 2004 increased 3.0% and 
3.4%, respectively, as compared with the same periods in 2003. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect 
on amounts reported in the financial statements. As more information 
becomes known, these estimates and assumptions could change 
and thus impact amounts reported in the future. Management 
believes that the establishment of insurance reserves, the 
determination of “other-than-temporary” impairment on investments, 
and accruals for litigation are the areas where the degree of 
judgment required to determine amounts recorded in the financial 
statements make the accounting policies critical.

Insurance Reserves
Insurance reserves, or “Unpaid Losses and LAE,” are management’s 
best estimate of the ultimate amounts that will be paid for all claims 
that have been reported up to the date of the current accounting 
period but that have not yet been paid, plus an estimate of claims 
that have occurred but have not yet been reported to the Company 
(“incurred but not reported,” or “IBNR”), and the expenses to be 
paid to settle claims.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Liabilities for the costs of losses and LAE for both reported and 
unreported claims are estimated based on historical trends adjusted 
for changes in loss cost trends, underwriting standards, policy 
provisions, product mix and other factors. Estimating dollar amounts 
for unpaid losses and LAE is inherently judgmental and is influenced 
by factors, which are subject to significant variation. Changes in 
underlying estimates or assumptions and the resulting adjustments 
to reserves are reflected in the results of operations in the periods 
in which estimates change.

Management analyzes the adequacy of reserves using actuarial 
data and analytical reserve development techniques, including 
projections of ultimate paid losses, to determine the ultimate 
amounts of reserves. Historical medical, hospitalization, material 
repair and replacement costs, general economic trends and the 
legal environment are examples of major factors taken into account 
in developing these estimates.

In developing IBNR reserve amounts, quarterly estimates are made 
of ultimate frequency, or number of claims per earned car year, 
and severity, or claim cost per earned car year. Frequency can be 
affected by factors such as driving patterns, gas prices, changes 
in classes of insured drivers, and weather events. Factors affecting 
the severity trend include medical cost and product repair cost 
trends, and litigation expense patterns. Management believes that 
Infinity’s relatively low average policy limit and concentration on 
the nonstandard auto driver classification help stabilize fluctuations 
in frequency and severity. 

An increase in either frequency or severity of 1% for the 2004 
accident year would decrease earnings per share by approxi-
mately $0.15.

Other-Than-Temporary Losses on Investments
Changes in the market values of investment securities are usually 
recorded as changes in unrealized gains or losses on investments, 
a component of shareholders’ equity. Net earnings are not affected 
until the disposition of a given security or, if an unrealized loss is 
deemed to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge is 
recorded as a realized capital loss and the cost basis of the 
security is reduced.

The determination of whether unrealized losses are “other-than-
temporary” requires judgment based on subjective as well as 
objective factors. Factors considered and resources used by 
management include:

 •  whether the unrealized loss is credit-driven or a result of 
changes in market interest rates,

 •  the extent to which market value is less than cost basis,

 •  historical operating, balance sheet and cash flow data 
contained in issuer SEC filings,

 •  issuer news releases,

 •  near-term prospects for improvement in the issuer and/or its 
industry,

 •  industry research and communications with industry specialists, 

 •  third-party research and credit rating reports,

 •  internally generated financial models and forecasts,

 •  discussions with issuer management, and

 •  ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time suffi-
cient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.

Management regularly evaluates for potential impairment each 
security position that (i) has a market value of less than 80% of its 
book value or (ii) exceeds $100,000, as well as each position 
held for which one or more impairment charges have been recorded 
in the past. The process of evaluation includes assessments of 
each item listed above. Since it is not possible to accurately predict 
if or when a specific security will become other-than-temporarily 
impaired, total impairment charges could be material to the results 
of operations in a future period. Management believes that it is 
not likely, however, that such impairment charges will have a 
significant effect on Infinity’s liquidity. 

Accruals for Litigation
Infinity continually evaluates potential liabilities and reserves for 
litigation using the criteria established by Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 5, “Accounting for Contingen-
cies.” Under this guidance, reserves for loss may only be recorded 
if the likelihood of occurrence is probable and the amount is 
reasonably estimable. Management considers each legal action 
using this guidance and records reserves for losses as appropriate. 
Infinity believes the current assumptions and other considerations 
used to estimate potential liability for litigation are appropriate. 
Certain claims and legal actions have been brought against 
Infinity for which no loss has been accrued, under the rules 
described above. While it is not possible to know with certainty 
the ultimate outcome of these claims or lawsuits, management 
does not expect them to have a material effect on Infinity’s financial 
condition or liquidity.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Ratios
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ (“NAIC”) 
model law for risk-based capital (“RBC”) provides formulas to 
determine the amount of capital that an insurance company needs 
to ensure that it has an acceptable expectation of not becoming 
financially impaired. At December 31, 2004, the capital ratios of 
all Infinity insurance subsidiaries substantially exceeded the RBC 
requirements.
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Sources of Funds
Infinity is organized as a holding company with all of its operations 
being conducted by its insurance subsidiaries. Accordingly, Infinity 
will have continuing cash needs for administrative expenses, the 
payment of principal and interest on borrowings, shareholder 
dividends, share repurchases and taxes.

Administrative expenses at the holding company have averaged 
approximately $6.4 million to $6.9 million annually since 2003.

At December 31, 2004 Infinity had $200 million principal of 
senior notes due 2014, bearing a fixed 5.5% interest rate (the 
“Senior Notes”). Interest payments due in 2005 are $11.0 million. 
(Refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for more 
information on the Senior Notes).

Also in January 2005, Infinity announced its intent to repurchase 
up to $50 million of its common stock in the open market or through 
privately negotiated transactions over the next three years.

In 2004 Infinity paid a dividend of $.055 per common share per 
quarter. In February 2005, Infinity increased the quarterly dividend 
to $.06 per share. Based on the current number of shares out-
standing, this equates to a common stock dividend of approximately 
$5.0 million per year.

Funds to meet these obligations will come primarily from dividends 
from the insurance subsidiaries, as well as cash and investments 
held at the holding company. In 2004, Infinity’s insurance subsid-
iaries paid Infinity $28.5 million in ordinary dividends. In 2005, 
they may pay to Infinity up to $62.7 million in ordinary dividends 
without prior regulatory approval. As of December 31, 2004, 
Infinity had $88.6 million of cash and investments. Other sources 
of additional liquidity include an unused line of credit in the amount 
of $20 million, the potential use of various reinsurance vehicles, 
and capital funds that could be supplied by additional debt or 
equity offerings. 

Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries generate liquidity to satisfy their 
obligations, primarily by collecting and investing premiums in 
advance of paying claims. Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries had 
positive cash flow from operations of approximately $61 million in 
2004, $67 million in 2003, and $45 million in 2002. In addition, 
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries have available to pay its obligations 
an additional $1,260.1 million in fixed maturity securities and 
$25.0 million in equity securities, all carried at market value with 
unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of 
shareholders’ equity on an after-tax basis.

Management believes that cash and investment balances and 
cash flows generated from operations are adequate to meet the 
future liquidity needs for Infinity and its insurance subsidiaries.

Contractual Obligations
Infinity and its insurance subsidiaries’ contractual obligations as of 
December 31, 2004 are (in thousands): 

Long-Term Operating Loss and LAE
Due in:  Debt  Leases   Reserves  Total

2005 $ 11,000 $ 18,412 $362,742 $ 392,154
2006–2007 22,000 33,896 223,266 279,162
2008–2009 22,000 25,325 51,253 98,578
2010 and after 293,500  28,174  22,011  343,685

Total $ 348,500  $ 105,807  $659,272  $ 1,113,579

The payout pattern for reserves for losses and LAE is based upon 
historical payment patterns and do not represent actual contractual 
obligations. The timing and amounts ultimately paid can and will 
vary from these estimates, as discussed in the Critical Accounting 
Policies section.

The contractual obligations under the long-term debt category 
above include payments of interest.

INVESTMENTS

General
Infinity’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2004 contained 
$1,304.1 million in fixed maturity securities and $25.0 million in 
equity securities, all carried at market value with unrealized gains 
and losses reported as a separate component of shareholders’ 
equity on an after-tax basis. At December 31, 2004, Infinity had 
pretax net unrealized gains of $43.2 million on fixed maturities 
and $3.5 million on equity securities.

Approximately 94% of the fixed maturities that Infinity held were 
rated “investment grade” (credit rating of AAA to BBB) by nationally 
recognized rating agencies at December 31, 2004. The average 
rating for the fixed income portfolio at December 31, 2004 was 
AA-. Investment grade securities generally bear lower yields and 
lower degrees of risk than those that are unrated or non-investment 
grade. Management believes that a high quality investment 
portfolio is more likely to generate a stable and predictable 
investment return.

Investments in mortgage-backed securities (“MBSs”) represented 
approximately one-fifth of Infinity’s fixed maturities at December 31, 
2004. MBSs are subject to significant prepayment risk due to the 
fact that, in periods of declining interest rates, mortgages may be 
repaid more rapidly than scheduled as borrowers refinance higher 
rate mortgages to take advantage of lower rates. When these pre-
payments occur faster than planned, market rates are usually lower 
for new investments than those that were prepaid. Prepayments on 
MBSs were approximately $34 million and $45 million for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 
2003, respectively. Approximately 96% of Infinity’s MBSs are 
rated “AAA” and all but one are investment grade.
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Individual portfolio securities are sold creating gains or losses as 
market opportunities exist. Since all of these securities are carried 
at market value on the balance sheet, there is virtually no effect on 

liquidity or financial conditions upon the sale and ultimate realization 
of unrealized gains and losses. The average duration of Infinity’s 
fixed maturity portfolio was 4.1 years at December 31, 2004.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2004 2003

(in millions)

Amortized 
Cost  

Market 
Value  

Amortized 
Cost  

Market 
Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 112.1 $ 112.1 $ 125.0 $ 125.0 
Fixed Maturities:
 U.S. Government and agencies 96.0 97.1 99.8 101.7 
 State and municipal 232.6 237.1 218.8 224.6 
 Foreign government — — 2.3 2.3 
 Public utilities 80.5 85.2 114.8 120.7 
 Mortgage-backed securities 263.7 267.3 209.6 213.1 
 Corporate and other 583.9 613.3 535.8 570.2 
 Redeemable preferred stocks 4.1  4.0  11.4  13.0 

  Total Fixed Maturities $1,260.8 $ 1,304.1 $ 1,192.4 $ 1,245.8 
Equity Securities 21.5  25.0  19.2   21.4 

  Total $1,394.4  $ 1,441.1  $ 1,336.7  $ 1,392.2 

The following table presents the yields of Infinity’s investment portfolios as reflected in the financial statements. 

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,  

 2004 2003 2002 

Yield on Fixed Income Securities:
 Excluding realized gains and losses 5.1% 5.5% 6.4%
 Including realized gains and losses 5.3% 5.6% 6.3%
Yield on Equity Securities:
 Excluding realized gains and losses 4.7% 4.8% 3.4%
 Including realized gains and losses 21.3% 3.5% (12.6%)
Yield on All Investments:
 Excluding realized gains and losses 5.1% 5.5% 6.3%
 Including realized gains and losses 5.5% 5.5% 5.7%

Fixed Maturity Investments
The following table shows Infinity’s bonds and redeemable preferred stocks, by NAIC designation and comparable Standard & Poor’s 
Corporation rating as of December 31, 2004.

NAIC Amortized Market Value

Rating Comparable S&P Rating Cost  Amount  %

1 AAA, AA, A $  990.8 $1,017.4 78.0%
2 BBB 202.4  214.0  16.4%

Total investment grade 1,193.2 1,231.5 94.4%
3 BB 43.1 45.3 3.5%
4 B 19.5 21.3 1.6%
5 CCC, CC, C 2.5 3.0 0.2%
6 D 2.7  3.1  0.2%

 Total non-investment grade 67.7  72.6  5.6%

 Total $1,260.8  $1,304.1  100.0%



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)

The table below sets forth the scheduled maturities of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2004 based on their market values (in 
millions). Securities that do not have a single maturity date are reported at average maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual 
maturities because certain securities may be called or prepaid by the issuers.

Securities
Securities Securities With No

With With Unrealized
Unrealized Unrealized Gains or All Fixed

Maturity Gains  Losses  Losses  Maturities

One year or less $  48.9 $   — $1.8 $ 50.7
After one year through five years 358.6 105.9 — 464.5
After five years through ten years 345.6 54.2 6.2 406.0
After ten years 104.1 11.5 — 115.6
Mortgage-backed securities 177.5  89.8  —  267.3

Total $1,034.7  $261.3  $8.0  $1,304.1

Exposure to Market Risk
Market risk represents the potential economic loss arising from 
adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. Infinity’s 
exposures to market risk relate primarily to its investment portfolio 
which is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk and, to a lesser 
extent, equity price risk.

The fair value of Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio is directly impacted 
by changes in market interest rates; generally, the market value of 
fixed-income investments moves inversely with movements in market 
interest rates. Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio is comprised of 
substantially all fixed rate investments with primarily short-term and 
intermediate-term maturities. This practice allows flexibility in 
reacting to fluctuations of interest rates. In addition, the risk of loss 
in market value is partially mitigated by higher market rates 
available for new funds available for investment. The portfolios of 
Infinity’s insurance companies are managed with an attempt to 
achieve an adequate risk-adjusted return while maintaining 
sufficient liquidity to meet policyholder obligations. 

Credit risk is managed by diversifying the portfolio to avoid 
concentrations in any single industry group and by maintaining a 
minimum average credit quality rating on the portfolio. 

The following table provides information about Infinity’s fixed 
maturity investments at December 31, 2004 and 2003, which are 
sensitive to interest rate risk. The table shows expected principal 
cash flows (in millions) by expected maturity date for each of the 
five subsequent years and collectively for all years thereafter. 
Callable bonds and notes are included based on call date or 

maturity date depending upon which date produces the most  
conservative yield. MBSs and sinking fund issues are included 
based on maturity year adjusted for expected payment patterns. 
Actual cash flows may differ from those expected.

Principal Cash Flows for 
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 

 2004    2003

2005 $ 86.5 2004 $ 66.9
2006 112.5 2005 93.8
2007 139.5 2006 120.4
2008 159.2 2007 123.3
2009 203.0 2008 157.1
thereafter 535.5  thereafter  608.3

Total $ 1,236.2  Total  $ 1,169.8

Fair Value $ 1,304.1  Fair Value  $ 1,245.8

Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the potential economic loss from adverse changes 
in equity security prices. Although Infinity’s investment in equity 
securities is only 1.5% of total investments, it is concentrated in a 
relatively limited number of positions; approximately half of the total 
is in five investments; two of these five are electric utilities. While 
this approach allows management to more closely monitor the 
companies and industries in which they operate, it does increase 
risk exposure to adverse price declines in a major position.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Underwriting
Underwriting profitability is measured by the combined ratio, 
which is the sum of the ratios of losses, LAE and underwriting 
expenses to earned premiums. When the combined ratio is under 
100%, underwriting results are generally considered profitable; 
when the ratio is over 100%, underwriting results are generally 
considered unprofitable. The combined ratio does not reflect 
investment income, other income or federal income taxes.

Underwriting expenses include expenses that vary directly with 
premium volume (commissions and premium taxes) as well as 
expenses that are relatively fixed (administrative expenses).
Accordingly, underwriting expenses tend to move in the same 
direction as premiums but at a slower rate. As a result, the 
underwriting expense ratio tends to decrease when premiums 
grow and increase when premiums decline.

Since early 2000, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries have been 
increasing their premium rates with a goal of achieving underwriting 
profits, even if it entails foregoing volume. As with all property and 
casualty companies, the beneficial impact of these price increases 
is reflected in Infinity’s financial results over time. Infinity implements 
price increases on its in-force policies as they are renewed, which 
generally takes between six and twelve months for the entire book 
of business. Infinity recognizes increased premiums on particular 
policies as the premiums are earned, generally over the course of 
the six to twelve months after the policy is effective.

Net earned premiums and combined ratios for the NSA Group 
and the Assumed Agency Business were (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

 2004  2003  2002 

Net Earned Premiums (GAAP)
NSA Group
 Gross written premiums $ 882.5 $ 868.3 $ 914.6
 Ceded reinsurance (46.0) (187.5) (301.6)

 Net written premiums 836.5 680.8 613.0
 Change in unearned premiums (57.3) (75.2) 32.9 

 Net earned premiums $ 779.2  $ 605.6  $ 645.9 

Assumed Agency Business(a),(b)

 Net written premiums gross of the 
  Inter-Ocean agreement $ 74.2 $ 159.1 $ 152.8
 Ceded premiums under Quota  
  Share Agreements(c) 7.1  (22.3) (78.5 )

 Net written premiums net of  
  Quota Share Agreements 81.3 136.8 74.3
 Change in unearned premiums 11.8  (43.7) 32.9 

 Net earned premiums $ 93.2  $ 93.1  $ 107.2 

Combined Ratios (GAAP)
NSA Group
 Loss and LAE ratio 69.1% 79.5% 81.8%
 Underwriting expense ratio 18.7% 10.3% 12.2%

 Combined ratio 87.8% 89.8% 94.0%

Assumed Agency Business
 Loss and LAE ratio 69.5% 81.4% 84.9%
 Underwriting expense ratio 31.1% 28.0% 24.4%

 Combined ratio 100.6% 109.4% 109.3%

Weighted Average of NSA Group  
and Assumed Agency:
 Loss and LAE ratio 69.1% 79.8% 82.2%
 Underwriting expense ratio 20.0% 12.7% 13.9%

 Combined ratio 89.1% 92.5% 96.1%

 Combined ratio gross of Quota  
  Share Agreements(c) 89.8% 94.3% 97.3%

(a)  Excludes $48.0 million in unearned premiums transferred to Infinity with the 
Assumed Agency Business on January 1, 2003.

(b)  The 2003 Inter-Ocean agreement was commuted in 2004, resulting in a return 
of unearned premium on the Assumed Agency Business.

(c)  In 2003 and 2002, the NSA Group and Assumed Agency Business had an 
agreement with Inter-Ocean (“Inter-Ocean”), structured similarly to the agreement 
with American Re, whereby a portion of their auto physical damage business 
was ceded. Infinity commuted both the Inter-Ocean and American Re agreements 
(collectively the “Quota Share Agreements”) effective December 31, 2004 and 
did not renew either agreement for 2005.
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2004 compared to 2003
The NSA Group’s net earned premiums increased $173.6 million, 
or 28.7%, as Infinity reduced the amount of earned premiums 
ceded under the American Re agreement. Excluding the effect of 
this agreement, earned premiums were essentially unchanged at 
$832.5 million. The loss and LAE ratio improved 10.4 points from 
2003 to 2004. Excluding the effect of the Quota Share 
Agreements, the loss and LAE ratio decreased by 5.1 points from 
72.1% to 67.0% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 
to the same period in 2004, respectively. Approximately 3.6 
points of this improvement resulted from $11 million of favorable 
loss reserve development in 2004, primarily on Infinity’s California 
book of business, as compared with $19 million of unfavorable 
development for the same period in 2003, primarily on its New 
York business. The underwriting expense ratio increased from 
10.3% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, as 
compared with 18.7% for the same period in 2004. Excluding 
the effects of the American Re agreement, the expense ratio for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2004 of 21.4% still showed 
a slight 0.9 point increase over the 20.5% ratio for the same 
period in 2003, primarily as a result of increased commissions 
paid to agents and brokers.

Net earned premiums for the Assumed Agency Business were 
essentially unchanged for 2004 as compared with that in 2003. 
Excluding the effect of the Quota Share Agreements, however, 
earned premiums fell from $132.2 million in 2003 to $93.2 million 
in 2004, or a reduction of 29.5%. Gross written premiums fell 
from $111.1 million (excluding the $48 million transfer of unearned 
premiums related to the transfer of the book of business from AFG 
at January 1, 2003) to $74.2 million in 2004, or a decrease of 
33.2%. The decrease of premiums is a result of a deliberate effort 
by Infinity to reduce the writings in Non-Focus States. For 2004, 
gross written premiums in these states for the Assumed Agency 
book fell 52.0% as compared with the premiums written in all of 
2003. Of the business in the Focus States, the business in 
Connecticut represented 60% of the total for the year 2003. 
Written premiums on this business declined 16.7% to $42.0 million 
in 2004 as compared with that in 2003, as a result of delays 
Infinity experienced in getting new programs approved by that 
state’s department of insurance. The loss and LAE ratio for the 
Assumed Agency Business fell 11.9 points to 69.5% in 2004 as 
compared with 81.4% in 2003. Excluding the effect of the Quota 
Share Agreements, the loss and LAE ratio was 69.5% in 2004, 
about 4.9 points lower than 2003’s 74.4%. The decrease was a 
result of the decline in business in unprofitable Non-Focus states as 
well as continued improvement in claims frequencies as 
experienced by the overall Infinity business as well as the personal 

auto insurance industry during 2004. (The Assumed Agency 
Business had $4 million of favorable reserve development in both 
2004 and 2003). The expense ratio for the Assumed Agency 
book of business increased to 31.1% from 28.0% in 2004 and 
2003, respectively. Excluding the effect of the Quota Share 
Agreements, the expense ratios for 2003 and 2004 were 29.6% 
and 33.4%, an increase of 3.8 points, stemming primarily from 
the reduction of premiums over which to spread fixed costs 
associated with the book. 

2003 compared to 2002
The NSA Group’s net earned premiums fell $40.3 million, or 
6.2%, in the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003 
compared to the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2002 
primarily as a result of actions taken to discontinue writing inadequately 
priced business in certain focus states. Earned premiums, excluding 
the effect of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement, declined 12% 
to $833 million, due primarily to a reduction in business volume 
partially offset by rate increases. The loss and LAE ratio improved 
by 2.3 points for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 
2003 from the same period in 2002. Excluding the effects of the 
Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement, the loss and LAE ratio 
improved 1.7 points. The expense ratio improved by 1.9 points in 
2003 compared to 2002 primarily as a result of savings from 
consolidation efforts taken. Excluding the effect of the Inter-Ocean 
agreement, the expense ratio improved 1.6 points from 22.1% in 
the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2002 to 20.5% in 
the same period in 2003. 

The Assumed Agency Business’s net earned premiums decreased 
$14.1 million, or 13.2%, for the twelve-month period ended 
December 31, 2003 compared to the twelve-month period ended 
December 31, 2002 primarily as a result of a reduction in business 
volume. Earned premiums excluding the effect of the Inter-Ocean 
reinsurance agreement declined $29.9 million, or a reduction of 
18.4%, due primarily to a reduction in business volume partially 
offset by rate increases. The loss and LAE ratios for the Assumed 
Agency Business improved from 84.9% during the twelve-month 
period ended December 31, 2002 to 81.4% as a result of increases 
in rates, lower frequency of claims per auto insured and moderate 
increases in the average cost per claim as well as a reduction in 
business in the Non-Focus States. Excluding the effects of the Inter-
Ocean reinsurance agreement, the loss and LAE ratio improved 
from 77.8% to 74.4%. The expense ratio increased 3.6 points 
from 24.4% for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 
2002 to 28.0% for the same period in 2003. Excluding the 
effects of the Inter-Ocean reinsurance agreement, the expense 
ratio increased by 1.3 points from 28.3% for the twelve months of 
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2002 to 29.6% for 2003. This increase was attributable to a 
charge of $4.0 million from an increase in the rate of amortization 
of deferred acquisition costs following a periodic review of the 
deferability of specific acquisition costs. Excluding this charge, the 
expense ratio fell 1.7 points for the twelve-month period ended 
December 31, 2003 from the same period in 2002. 

Investment Income
Investment income is composed primarily of gross investment 
revenue, investment management fees and expenses and interest 
expense incurred on the Quota Share Agreements, as shown in 
the following table (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,

 2004  2003  2002

Gross investment income $69.6 $65.9 $71.5
Investment expenses 2.4 2.5 2.6
Interest expense on Quota Share Agreements 1.5  6.2  7.6

Net investment income $65.7  $57.2  $61.3

2004 compared to 2003
Changes in investment income reflect fluctuations in market rates 
and changes in average invested assets. Net investment income 
increased $8.5 million for the twelve-month period ended 
December 31, 2004 from the corresponding 2003 period. This 
increase was due to (i) the decrease in interest expense associated 
with the Quota Share Agreements of $4.7 million for the twelve-
month period ended December 31, 2004 versus the corresponding 
2003 period, due to the lower utilization of the Quota Share 
Agreements in 2004 as compared to 2003 and (ii) higher gross 
investment income from a 11.4% increase in average invested 
assets, partially offset by a decrease in Infinity’s weighted average 
gross investment yield from 5.5% to 5.1% for the twelve-month 
periods ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. 

2003 compared to 2002
Net investment income decreased $4.1 million for the twelve-
month period ended December 31, 2003 versus the comparable 
2002 period due to lower yields available for newly invested funds, 
and to a lesser extent due to a reallocation to tax advantaged 
securities, partially offset by an increase in average invested assets 
of 10.4%. Average invested assets increased as a result of the 
transfer at January 1, 2003 of $125.3 million of securities and cash 
in conjunction with Infinity’s assumption of insurance liabilities of 
the Assumed Agency Business, as well as proceeds received in 
July 2003 from the term loan.

Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments
Infinity recorded impairments for unrealized losses deemed other-
than-temporary and realized gains on sales and disposals as 
follows (before tax, in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

2004
Net Realized

Impairments Gains (Losses) Total Realized
 on Securities  on Sales  Gains (Losses) 

Fixed maturities $ (758) $ 3,649 $ 2,891 
Equities (372) 3,534 3,162 
Gain on sale of subsidiaries 0 830  830  

 $ (1,130) $ 8,013  $ 6,883  

2003
Net Realized

Impairments Gains (Losses) Total Realized
 on Securities on Sales  Gains (Losses) 

Fixed maturities $(3,877) $ 5,124 $ 1,247 
Equities (566) 278  (288)

 $(4,443) $ 5,402  $  959  

2002
Net Realized

Impairments Gains (Losses) Total Realized
 on Securities on Sales  Gains (Losses) 

Fixed maturities $(6,315) $ 4,856 $(1,459)
Equities (3,095) (2,153) (5,248)

 $(9,410) $ 2,703  $(6,707)

Other Income
Other income decreased $5.3 million for the twelve-month period 
ended December 31, 2004 from the corresponding 2003 period, 
primarily due to a nonrecurring gain of $6.7 million on the commu-
tation of service and indemnity agreements with AFG in 2003. 
Other income increased $8.1 million for the twelve-month period 
ended December 31, 2003 from the corresponding 2002 period, 
primarily due to the aforementioned $6.7 million gain and increased 
finance and service charge income.

Interest Expense
Interest expense was accrued at a fixed rate of 8.5% on the $55 
million note due to AFG until its repayment in mid-July, 2003 using 
a portion of the proceeds of the $200 million term loan. The term 
loan accrued interest at a variable rate, which averaged 3.7% 
from July 16, 2003, the date of issue, through February 18, 2004, 
at which time it was refinanced with the Senior Notes. The Senior 



Notes carry a coupon rate of 5.50%, effective yield of 5.55%, 
require no amortization payment and mature in 2014. The risk of 
variability in future interest expense was partially hedged by the 
interest rate swap. 

Twelve Months 
Ended December 31,

 2004  2003

$55 million note due to AFG $ — $ 2,545
$200 million term loan 947 3,422
Interest rate swap 166 565
Senior Notes 9,613  —

Total $ 10,726  $ 6,532

Other Operating and General Expenses
Corporate general and administrative expenses include costs 
associated with the new public company beginning in February 
2003. Other expenses increased $1.8 million for the twelve-month 
period ended December 31, 2003 to 2004 due to increased 
bad debt expense on uncollectible premiums, and increased 
litigation expenses during 2004, partially offset by a loss recorded 
in 2003 on an office sublease. Other expenses fell $4.4 million 
for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003 from the 
same period in 2002 due primarily to a $5.3 million litigation 
settlement in 2002.

Income Taxes
Infinity’s effective tax rate was 25.5% in 2004, 33.4% in 2003, 
and 35.3% in 2002. The effective tax rate for 2003 fell from that 
in 2002 as a result of increases in tax-exempt interest on Infinity’s 
municipal fixed income portfolio. The effective tax rate for 2004 
fell from that in 2003 as a result of increases in tax-exempt interest 
from a larger municipal fixed income portfolio, the release of $2.0 
million of tax reserves, and a $7.4 million reduction in the valuation 
allowance for deferred tax assets. See Note 6 to Infinity’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed analysis of the 
effective tax rate.

Controls and Procedures
Infinity’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer, with 
assistance from management, have evaluated the effectiveness of 
Infinity’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this 
report. Based on that evaluation, they concluded that the controls 
and procedures are effective. There have been no significant 
changes in Infinity’s internal controls or in other factors that could 
significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their 
evaluation.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the 
supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including our principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 
based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the frame-
work in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, our management 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was 
effective as of December 31, 2004.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over 
financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may 
not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes 
in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial 
reporting may vary over time. Our system contains self-monitoring 
mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they 
are identified.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Infinity’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has 
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered 
public accounting firm, as stated in the following report in which 
they expressed an unqualified opinion.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(continued)
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Infinity Property and 
Casualty Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the 
accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting, that Infinity Property and Casualty 
Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Infinity Property and 
Casualty Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our 
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to 
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Infinity Property and 
Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, 
is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. 
Also, in our opinion, Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 
and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, 
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Infinity Property and Casualty 
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 9, 2005 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Birmingham, Alabama 
March 9, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on  
Internal Control over Financial Reporting



Board of Directors 
Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries as 
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and 
subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spon-
soring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report 
dated March 9, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Birmingham, Alabama 
March 9, 2005

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004  2003  2002 

Revenue
 Earned premiums $ 872,324 $ 698,714 $ 645,857 
 Net investment income 65,676 57,175 61,260
 Realized gains (losses) on investments 6,883 959 (6,707 )
 Other income 6,880  12,136  4,043 

  Total revenue  951,763 768,984 704,453
Costs and Expenses
 Losses and loss adjustment expenses 603,313 557,308 527,786
 Commissions and other underwriting expenses 174,297 88,519 78,970
 Interest expense 10,726 6,532 —
 Corporate general and administrative expenses 6,432 6,901 —
 Loss on retirement of long-term debt 3,436 — —
 Other expenses 24,098  22,320  26,764 

  Total expenses 822,302  681,580  633,520 

Earnings before income taxes 129,461 87,404 70,933
Provision for income taxes 33,063  29,168  25,063 

Net Earnings $ 96,398  $ 58,236  $ 45,870 

Earnings per common share
 Basic $ 4.69 $ 2.86 N/A
 Diluted $ 4.62 $ 2.83 N/A
Average number of common shares
 Basic 20,560 20,348 N/A
 Diluted 20,859 20,594 N/A
Cash dividends per common share $ 0.220 $ 0.0165 N/A

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Earnings



December 31,   

(In thousands, except number of shares authorized and outstanding in line description) 2004  2003 

Assets:
 Investments:
  Fixed maturities—at market (amortized cost—$1,260,836 and $1,192,418) $ 1,304,080 $ 1,245,753
  Equity securities—at market (cost $21,529 and $19,184) 24,993  21,375 

  Total investments 1,329,073 1,267,128
 Cash and cash equivalents 112,052 125,042
 Accrued investment income 16,732 16,772
 Agents’ balances and premiums receivable, net of
  allowances for doubtful accounts of $11,524 and $7,902 264,978 254,026
 Prepaid reinsurance premiums 12,858 42,089
 Recoverables from reinsurers 20,202 31,481
 Deferred policy acquisition costs 68,454 50,858
 Current and deferred income taxes 12,656 8,890
 Prepaid expenses, deferred charges and other assets 32,658 31,178
 Goodwill 75,275  75,275 

  Total assets $ 1,944,938  $ 1,902,739 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
 Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 659,272 $ 713,543
 Unearned premiums 387,917 371,716
 Payable to reinsurers 3,953 36,055
 Long-term debt (fair value $198,010 at December 31, 2004) 199,305 195,500
 Commissions payable 25,257 23,073
 Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 121,813  107,482 

  Total liabilities 1,397,517 1,447,369
Shareholders’ Equity
 Common stock, no par value—50,000,000 shares authorized
  20,670,878 and 20,483,958 shares issued and outstanding 20,671 20,484
 Additional paid-in capital 329,994 324,787
 Retained earnings 166,710 74,856
 Unearned compensation (restricted stock) (314) (1,000)
 Unrealized gain, net 30,360  36,243 

  Total shareholders’ equity 547,421  455,370 

 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,944,938  $ 1,902,739 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Unrealized
Common Retained Gain Unearned

(In thousands) Stock  Paid-in Capital  Earnings  (Loss)  Compensation  Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ —  $ 585,699  $ (25,870) $ 2,928  $   —  $ 562,757 

Net earnings — — 45,870 — — 45,870
Change in unrealized gain—investments — — — 21,131 — 21,131

 Comprehensive income 67,001
 Return of capital — (189,476) — — — (189,476)
Issuance of shares to AFG 1 — — — — 1
Issuance of note payable to AFG — (55,000) — — — (55,000)
Other —  1,520   —  —  —  1,520 

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 1  $ 342,743  $ 20,000  $24,059  $   —  $ 386,803 

Net earnings $ — $     — $ 58,236 $    — $   — $ 58,236
Change in unrealized gain—investments — — — 11,969 — 11,969
Change in unrealized gain—derivative — — — 215 — 215

 Comprehensive income 70,420
 IPO (Adjusted for Split) 20,346 (20,346) — — — —
Dividends paid to common stockholders — — (3,380) — — (3,380)
Issuance of restricted stock awards 134 2,016 — — (2,150) —
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — 1,150 1,150
Exercise of stock options 3 37 — — — 40
Capital contribution — 2,476 — — — 2,476
Other —  (2,139) —  —  — (2,139)

Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 20,484  $ 324,787  $ 74,856  $36,243  $(1,000) $ 455,370 

Net earnings $ — $     — $ 96,398 $    — $   — $ 96,398
Change in unrealized gain—investments — — — (5,668) — (5,668)
Change in unrealized gain—derivative — — — (215) — (215)

 Comprehensive income 90,515
 Dividends paid to common stockholders — — (4,544) — — (4,544)
Issuance of common stock 171 4,685 — — — 4,856
Amortization of unearned compensation — 253 — — 686 939
Employee stock purchase 2 63 — — — 65
Exercise of stock options 14  206  —  —  — 220 

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 20,671  $ 329,994  $ 166,710  $ 30,360  $  (314) $ 547,421 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity



Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 

Operating Activities
 Net earnings $ 96,398 $ 58,236 $ 45,870
 Adjustments:
  Depreciation and amortization 17,005 17,621 13,741
  Realized (gains) losses on investments (6,883) (959) 6,707
  Change in accrued investment income 40 (1,648) 2,719
  Change in agents’ balances and premiums receivable (10,952) (7,006) 31,480
  Change in reinsurance receivable 40,510 92,461 8,247
  Change in deferred policy acquisition costs (17,596) (17,812) 18,054
  Change in other assets (10,717) (3,771) 4,601
  Change in balances with affiliates — 7,844 1,645
  Change in insurance claims and reserves (38,070) (37,241) (77,489)
  Change in payable to reinsurers (32,102) (38,904) (16,004)
  Change in other liabilities 16,515 (559) 4,296
  Other, net 418 1,176 1,617 

   Net cash provided by operating activities 54,566 69,438 45,484
Investing Activities
 Purchases of and additional investments in:
  Fixed maturity investments (278,038) (419,844) (325,783)
  Equity securities (7,770) (11,711) (109)
  Property and equipment (4,618) (2,096) (4,015)
 Maturities and redemptions of fixed maturity investments 105,819 166,672 105,471
 Sales of:
  Fixed maturity investments 94,429 89,836 295,130
  Stock in subsidiary 10,380 — —
  Equity securities 8,587 11,057 18,891
  Property and equipment 1,443 177 324 

   Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (69,768) (165,909) 89,909
Financing Activities
 Issuance of long-term debt — 196,300 —
 Repayment of long-term debt — (4,500) —
 Repayment of note payable to AFG — (55,000) —
 Repayment of term loan (195,500) — —
 Proceeds from senior notes 199,256 — —
 Debt issuance costs (2,141) — —
 Proceeds from overallotment option 4,856 — —
 Issuance of common stock 285 40 —
 Dividends paid to shareholders (4,544) (3,380) —
 Return of capital — — (108,041)

   Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,212 133,460 (108,041)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Short-Term Investments (12,990) 36,989 27,352
Cash and short-term investments at beginning of period 125,042 88,053 60,701 

Cash and short-term investments at end of period $ 112,052 $ 125,042 $ 88,053 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation (“Infinity”) was formed 
in September 2002 as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
American Financial Group, Inc. (“AFG”) to acquire and conduct, 
as a separate public company, AFG’s personal insurance business 
written through independent agents. At December 31, 2002, AFG 
transferred to Infinity all of the issued and outstanding capital stock 
of the following personal auto insurance subsidiaries: Atlanta 
Casualty Company, Infinity Insurance Company, Leader Insurance 
Company and Windsor Insurance Company (collectively the 
“NSA Group”).

Through a reinsurance transaction effective January 1, 2003, 
Infinity assumed the personal lines business written through agents 
(the “Assumed Agency Business”) by AFG’s principal property and 
casualty subsidiary, Great American Insurance Company (“GAI”) 
GAI, in turn, transferred to Infinity assets (primarily investment 
securities) with a market value of $125.3 million and permits Infinity 
to continue to write standard and preferred insurance on policies 
issued by the same GAI companies which had previously issued 
such policies. This arrangement will continue until Infinity makes 
the proper rate and form filings to allow its insurance subsidiaries 
to write these policies or non-renews the business, which is 
expected by the end of 2006.

The business assumed from GAI in 2003 is not included in the 
consolidated statements of Infinity for 2002. The Assumed Agency 
Business reported the following selected financial data as of 
December 31, 2002 (in millions):

 2002

Earnings Statement Data:
Earned Premiums $107.2
Underwriting Loss (10.0)
Balance Sheet Data:
Assets (excluding investments) to be transferred $ 53.5
Investments to be transferred 125.3
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 125.6
Liabilities to be transferred 178.8

At December 31, 2002, AFG beneficially owned all of Infinity’s 
Common Stock. In February of 2003, AFG sold 12.5 million 
shares (61%) of Infinity in an initial public offering. In December of 
2003, AFG disposed of its remaining investment (7.9 million 
shares) in Infinity in the December 2003 public offering.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the 
accounts of Infinity and its subsidiaries as of and for the twelve-
month period ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 
2003. Infinity’s prior period financial statements represent the 
combined statements of the NSA Group. Earnings per share data 
for 2002 is not applicable because the Consolidated Statement 
of Earnings represents the combined statements of wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.

The accompanying income statements include corporate general 
and administrative expenses for the twelve-month periods ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002. Infinity was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AFG for the periods prior to 2003 and 
corporate holding company expenses were not allocated to Infinity 
for these periods. All appropriate expenses are included in other 
expenses for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2002. 
Infinity considered the guidance in Staff Accounting Bulletin 55, 
“Allocation of Expenses and Related Disclosure in Financial 
Statements of Subsidiaries, Divisions or Lesser Business Components 
of Another Entity” (Topic 1.B) in preparing these Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

The accompanying income statements include expenses incurred 
directly by Infinity as well as charges for fees allocated by other 
AFG subsidiaries to Infinity for various services. For 2002, charges 
billed by GAI for corporate staff services, including human 
resources, risk management, legal, and financial reporting were 
based on the percentage of capital that each of the AFG property 
and casualty insurance subsidiaries needs to run its business, which 
approximates estimated usage. Investment management fees for 
2002 have been based on the proportion each subsidiary’s 
portfolio (at market value) bears to the total portfolios being 
managed. Management believes that these charges billed by AFG 
were reasonable and the accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements are representative of the costs of Infinity doing business 
on a stand-alone basis. All significant inter-company balances and 
transactions have been eliminated. The results of operations of 
companies since their formation or acquisition are included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The acquisition of the NSA Group has been accounted for at 
AFG’s historical carrying amounts as transfers of net assets between 
entities under common control in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141.

These financial statements reflect certain adjustments necessary for 
a fair presentation of Infinity’s results of operations and financial 
position. Such adjustments consist of normal, recurring accruals 
recorded to accurately match expenses with their related revenue 
streams and the elimination of all significant inter-company 
transactions and balances. In addition, certain reclassification 
adjustments have been made to historical results to achieve 
consistency in presentation.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Changes in 
circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those estimates.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
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NOTE 2—ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments
All fixed maturity securities are considered “available for sale” and 
reported at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as 
a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Fair values of 
investments are based on prices quoted in the most active market 
for each security. If quoted prices are not available, fair value is 
estimated based on the fair value of comparable securities, 
discounted cash flow models or similar methods. Premiums and 
discounts on mortgage-backed securities are amortized over a 
period based on estimated future principal payments, including 
prepayments. Prepayment assumptions are reviewed periodically 
and adjusted to reflect actual prepayments and changes in 
expectations. The most significant determinants of prepayments 
are the difference between interest rates on the underlying 
mortgages and current mortgage loan rates and the structure of 
the security. Other factors affecting prepayments include the size, 
type and age of underlying mortgages, the geographic location 
of the mortgaged properties and the credit worthiness of the 
borrowers. Variations from anticipated prepayments will affect the 
life and yield of these securities.

Gains or losses on securities are determined on the specific 
identification basis. When a decline in the value of a specific 
investment is considered to be other-than-temporary, a provision for 
impairment is charged to earnings and the cost basis of that 
investment is reduced.

Securities having a carrying value of about $42 million at 
December 31, 2004 were on deposit as required by regulatory 
authorities. 

Goodwill
Goodwill carried on Infinity’s balance sheet represents the excess 
of AFG’s carrying value over tangible assets in the NSA Group 
and the Assumed Agency Business at the date of transfer to Infinity 
in contemplation of Infinity’s initial public offering in early 2003. In 
accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets,” Infinity performs impairment test procedures on an annual 
basis. These procedures require Infinity to calculate the fair value 
of goodwill, compare the result to its carrying value and record 
the amount of any shortfall as an impairment charge. Infinity 
performed this test as of October 1, 2004 using a variety of 
methods, including estimates of future discounted cash flows and 
comparisons of the market value of Infinity to its major competitors 
as well as the overall market. The October 1, 2004 test results 
indicated that there was no impairment at that date. Infinity intends 
to perform this test annually each October 1.

Reinsurance
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries cede reinsurance to other 
companies. To the extent that any reinsuring companies are unable 
to meet obligations under agreements covering reinsurance ceded, 

Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries would remain liable. Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent 
with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policies. 
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries report as assets (a) the estimated 
reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses, including an estimate 
for losses incurred but not reported, and (b) amounts paid to 
reinsurers applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force. 
Payable to reinsurers represents ceded premiums retained by 
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries to fund ceded losses as they become 
due. Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries also assume reinsurance, 
primarily from other AFG subsidiaries. Income on reinsurance 
assumed is recognized based on reports received from ceding 
companies.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”)
Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium taxes 
and other marketing and underwriting expenses) related to the 
production of new business are deferred and charged against 
income ratably over the terms of the related policies. The method 
followed in computing DPAC limits the amount of such costs to 
their estimated realizable value without any consideration for 
anticipated investment income.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (“LAE”)
The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of 
investigation and adjustment of unpaid claims are based upon (a) 
the accumulation of case estimates for losses reported prior to the 
close of the accounting period on direct business written; (b) 
estimates received from ceding reinsurers and insurance pools and 
associations; (c) estimates of unreported losses based on past 
experience; (d) estimates based on experience of expenses for 
investigating and adjusting claims and (e) the current state of the 
law and coverage litigation. These liabilities are subject to the 
impact of changes in claim amounts and frequency and other 
factors. Unpaid losses and LAE have not been reduced for 
reinsurance recoverable. Changes in estimates of the liabilities for 
losses and LAE are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of 
Earnings in the period in which determined. In spite of the variability 
inherent in such estimates, management believes that the liabilities 
for unpaid losses and LAE are adequate.

Premiums and Receivables
Insurance premiums written are earned over the terms of the policies 
on a pro rata basis. Unearned premiums represent that portion of 
premiums written which is applicable to the unexpired terms of 
policies in force. On reinsurance assumed from other insurance 
companies or written through various underwriting organizations, 
unearned premiums are based on reports received from such 
companies and organizations. Infinity provides insurance and related 
services to individuals and small commercial accounts throughout 
the United States and offers a variety of payment plans. Infinity 
establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on prior 
experience, the relationship between receivables and unearned 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
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premium, on a policy basis, and an aging process of past due 
balances. Premiums due from insureds are charged off if not collected 
within 90 days of the policies’ effective or cancellation dates.

Income Taxes
Infinity files a consolidated federal income tax return which includes 
all 80%-owned U.S. subsidiaries. Infinity and its 80%-owned 
subsidiaries are parties to a tax allocation agreement effective for 
periods following February 12, 2003, which designates how tax 
payments are shared by members of the tax group. In general, 
each subsidiary agrees to pay Infinity taxes computed on a 
separate company taxable income basis. Infinity agrees to pay 
each subsidiary for the tax benefit, if any, of net losses used by 
other members of the consolidated group. Taxes paid by Infinity in 
the years 2004 and 2003 were $33.6 million and $25.3 million, 
respectively. Prior to February 13, 2003, Infinity and its subsidiaries 
were part of the American Financial Corporation (“AFC,” an AFG 
subsidiary) tax group and were parties to tax allocation agreements 
with AFC. In general, AFC companies computed taxes on a 
separate return basis and made payments to (or received benefits 
from) AFC based on taxable income. Taxes allocated to Infinity 
while included in the AFC tax group for the year 2002 were 
$25.1 million. The tax allocation agreements with AFC have not 
impacted the recognition of income tax expense and income tax 
payable in Infinity’s financial statements. 

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method. 
Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on differences between financial reporting and 
tax basis and are measured using enacted tax rates. Deferred tax 
assets are recognized if it is more likely than not that a benefit will 
be realized. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
aggregated on the balance sheet.

Benefit Plans
Infinity provides retirement benefits to qualified employees of 
participating companies and health care and life insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees. Infinity also provides post-employment 
benefits to former or inactive employees (primarily those on 
disability) who were not deemed retired under other company 
plans. The projected future cost of providing these benefits is 
expensed over the period the employees earn such benefits.

Statements of Cash Flows
For cash flow purposes, “investing activities” are defined as making 
and collecting loans and acquiring and disposing of debt or equity 
instruments and property and equipment. “Financing activities” 
include obtaining resources from owners and providing them with 
a return on their investments. All other activities are considered 
“operating.” Investments having original maturities of three months 
or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents for 
purposes of the financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation
Infinity accounts for stock options and other stock-based compen-
sation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed by 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees.” The fair value of shares issued under 
Infinity’s Restricted Stock Plan is recorded as unearned compensation 
and expensed over the vesting periods of the awards. Under 
Infinity’s Stock Option Plan, options are granted to officers, directors 
and key employees at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the 
shares at the dates of grant. No compensation expense is 
recognized for stock option grants. Refer to Note 8 for more 
information on stock-based compensation.

New Accounting Standards
On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123 (revised), 
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(r)”). This new standard requires 
the recognition of compensation cost for share-based payments to 
employees, including stock option grants. SFAS 123(r) is effective 
for interim periods beginning after June 15, 2005; the Company 
plans to adopt the new standard at that time. In accordance with 
this new standard, pro forma amounts disclosed for periods up to 
this date will continue to be shown with comparative historical 
financial statements. No retroactive cumulative-effect adjustment 
will be recorded. Implementation of SFAS 123(r) in July 2005 is 
not expected to materially affect Infinity’s results of operations or 
financial position. 

On May 19, 2004, the FASB released FASB Statement of Position 
106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the 
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act 
of 2003” (the “Act”). This guidance requires sponsors of certain 
postretirement health care plans to determine whether the 
prescription benefits under the plan are actuarially equivalent to 
Medicare Part D benefits. If so, the plan qualifies for a federal 
subsidy under the Act and it must determine whether the subsidy is 
expected to lower the plan’s cost of benefits. The plan assessment 
status is presented in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. In January 2005, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid 
Services issued final regulations for the actuarial equivalence test. 
Infinity is currently evaluating its postretirement health care plan 
under the final rules and does not expect their application to 
materially affect its results of operations or financial position.

Proposed Accounting Standard
At December 31, 2004, the FASB was deliberating proposed 
FASB Staff Position EITF 03-1-a, “Implementation Guidance for the 
Application of EITF Issue No. 03-1, ‘The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments.’” 
This guidance provides, among other things, that securities impaired 
by minor interest rate increases and/or changes in sector spreads 
can in some circumstances be considered temporary. If finalized 
in its current form, Infinity does not expect its application to materially 
affect its results of operations or financial position. 



NOTE 3—INVESTMENTS

Fixed maturities and equity securities consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31, 2004  

Amortized Market Gross Unrealized

 Cost  Value  Gains  Losses 

Fixed maturities:
 United States Government and government agencies and authorities $ 96.0 $ 97.1 $ 1.7 $(0.5)
 States, municipalities and political subdivisions 232.6 237.1 4.9 (0.4)
 Public utilities 80.5 85.2 4.8 (0.1)
 Mortgage-backed securities 263.7 267.3 4.2 (0.6)
 All other corporate 583.9 613.3 30.2 (0.8)
 Redeemable preferred stocks 4.1  4.0  0.1  (0.2)

 $ 1,260.8  $ 1,304.1  $ 45.7  $(2.5)

Equity securities $ 21.5  $ 25.0  $ 3.6  $(0.1)

December 31, 2003  

Amortized Market Gross Unrealized

 Cost  Value  Gains  Losses 

Fixed maturities:
 United States Government and government agencies and authorities $ 99.8 $ 101.7 $ 2.4 $(0.5)
 States, municipalities and political subdivisions 218.8 224.6 6.2 (0.4)
 Foreign government 2.3 2.3 0.1 —
 Public utilities 114.8 120.7 6.2 (0.3)
 Mortgage-backed securities 209.6 213.1 4.5 (1.0)
 All other corporate 535.8 570.2 35.1 (0.6)
Redeemable preferred stocks 11.4  13.0  1.6  — 

 $ 1,192.4  $ 1,245.8  $56.1  $(2.7)

Equity securities $ 19.2  $ 21.4  $ 2.2  $(0.1)

The changes in unrealized gains or losses on marketable securities, which is included in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in 
Shareholders’ Equity, was $(5.7) million, $12.0 million and $21.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 
2002 as detailed below: 

Pretax

 Fixed Maturities Equity Securities Tax Effects Net 

Year ended December 31, 2004
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $ (7.3) $ 4.5 $ 1.0 $ (1.8)
Realized (gains) included in net income (2.9) (3.2)(a) 2.2 (3.9)

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net(b) $(10.2) $ 1.3 $ 3.2 $ (5.7)

Year ended December 31, 2003
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $16.0 $ 3.4 $ (6.8) $12.6
Realized (gains) losses included in net income (1.2) 0.3 0.3 (0.6)

Change in unrealized gain on marketable securities, net $14.8 $ 3.7 $ (6.5) $12.0 

Year ended December 31, 2002
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $34.0 $(8.2) $ (9.1) $16.7
Realized losses included in net income 1.5 5.2 (2.3) 4.4 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $35.5 $(3.0) $(11.4) $21.1 

(a) Excludes realized (gains) on sales of subsidiaries of ($0.8) million.
(b) Excludes pretax change in unrealized gain on derivative of $0.3 million.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)
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Infinity has recorded pretax other-than-temporary impairment 
charges on securities as follows (in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

 2004  2003  2002 

Beginning balance $11,784 $13,962 $12,925 
Impairments recorded:
Fixed maturities 758 3,877 6,315 
Equity securities 372 566 3,095 
Sales, maturities, and paydowns (979) (6,621) (8,373)

Ending balance $11,935  $11,784  $13,962  

Gross gains and losses on fixed maturity investment transactions 
included in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows consisted 
of the following (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,  

 2004  2003  2002 

Gross gains $ 4.1 $ 5.8 $13.0
Gross losses (0.5) (0.7) (9.0)

Net Realized Gains (losses) on sales
 of fixed maturities(a) $ 3.6  $ 5.1  $ 4.0 

(a)  Excludes gains on sales of equities, other-than-temporary impairment charges, and 
other non-cash gains and losses.

The following chart summarizes Infinity’s security positions with 
unrealized losses which were less than twelve months old and 
greater than twelve months old as of December 31, 2004 (dollars 
in millions):

Less than twelve months

Number of Amortized Market Unrealized
 Securities  Cost  Value  Loss

Fixed maturities 70 $246.3 $244.1 $2.1
Equity securities 1  1.1  1.1  0.0

Total 71  $247.4  $245.2  $2.1

Greater than twelve months

Number of Amortized Market Unrealized
 Securities  Cost  Value  Loss

Fixed maturities 7 $ 17.6 $ 17.2 $0.4
Equity securities 2  6.8  6.7  0.1

Total 9  $ 24.4  $ 23.9  $0.5

 
December 31, 

2004 
December 31, 

2003 

Number of positions held  
 with unrealized:
 Gains 451 451
 Losses 80 63
Number of positions held that  
 individually exceed unrealized:
 Gains of $500,000 10 11
 Losses of $500,000 — —
Percentage of positions held  
 with unrealized:
 Gains that were investment grade 89% 88%
 Losses that were investment grade 97% 85%

Infinity’s investment portfolio included $2.6 million and $2.8 million of 
gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 
2003, respectively. There was no single industry segment concen-
tration that accounted for more than $1 million of these losses.

Net Investment Income
The following table shows (in millions) investment income earned 
and investment expenses (including interest charges on payables 
to reinsurers) incurred by Infinity’s insurance companies.

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,  

 2004  2003  2002 

Investment income:
 Fixed maturities $68.7 $64.7 $70.3
 Equity securities 0.9 1.0 1.1
  Other —  0.2  0.2 

69.6  65.9 71.6
Investment expenses(a) (3.9) (8.7) (10.3)

Net investment income $65.7  $57.2  $61.3 

(a)  Investment expenses include interest credited in connection with physical damage 
quota share agreements of $1.5 million, $6.3 million and $7.7 million for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio includes securities with fair values 
totaling $1.4 million that have not produced investment income for 
at least twelve months as of December 31, 2004.  
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NOTE 4—LONG-TERM DEBT

Infinity repaid the $55 million note due to AFG in July 2003 with 
proceeds from a $200 million seven-year amortizing term loan.
The loan proceeds of $196.3 million (net of issued costs of $3.7 
million) were also used to supplement the capital of Infinity’s 
insurance subsidiaries, to reduce Infinity’s reliance on reinsurance 
and for general corporate purposes. The term loan (prepaid in full 
in February 2004) accrued interest at a variable rate and at 
Infinity’s choice of LIBOR plus 2.5% or Prime plus 1.5%. To hedge 
against future adverse movements in short-term interest rates, Infinity 
entered into an interest rate swap for $100 million of the principal, 
in which the variable rate payments due for the first three years of 
the term were exchanged for a fixed rate of 4.89%. The covenants 
of the loan had required Infinity to maintain certain minimum 
interest and fixed charge coverage ratios, as well as minimum levels 
of capital and surplus; the requirements of all loan covenants were 
met as of December 31, 2003. The first two loan principal repay-
ment amounts of $2.25 million each were made on September 30 
and December 31, 2003. In compliance with the loan agreement, 
Infinity made an additional principal payment of $2.5 million, 
one-half of the over-allotment proceeds received by Infinity from the 
December 2003 public offering, in January 2004. The remainder 
was to be repaid in quarterly installments.

In February 2004, Infinity issued $200 million principal of Senior 
Notes due 2014. The notes bear interest at a fixed 5.5% coupon 
rate which is payable semiannually. The proceeds of the Senior 
Notes were used to retire the term loan referenced above. 
Unamortized debt issuance costs relating to the issuance of the 
variable rate term loan were written off upon the retirement of this 
loan, resulting in a pretax charge of $3.4 million in the first quarter of 
2004. Infinity capitalized $2.1 million of debt issuance costs related 
to the Senior Notes. In addition, the interest rate swap, which Infinity 
held in conjunction with the term loan, was settled and resulted in 
a pretax charge of $0.3 million in the first quarter of 2004. 

Interest paid by Infinity on long-term debt was $6.5 million for 
both of the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2004  
and 2003.

NOTE 5—EQUITY IN AFFILIATES

At December 31, 2000, Infinity owned 2 million shares (3%) of 
Chiquita common stock. AFG and its subsidiaries, then an affiliate 
of Infinity, owned an additional 22 million shares (33%) of Chiquita 
common stock at that date. Chiquita reported net losses attributable 
to common shares of $112 million in 2000.

In January 2001, Chiquita announced a restructuring initiative that 
included discontinuing all interest and principal payments on its 
public debt. Due to the expected restructuring, Infinity recorded a 
fourth quarter 2000 pretax charge of $14.2 million to write down 
its investment in Chiquita to quoted market value at December 31, 
2000. In 2001, Infinity suspended accounting for the investment 
under the equity method and reclassified the investment to “Equity 
securities.” In the third quarter of 2001, Infinity wrote down its 
investment in Chiquita by an additional $669,000. In March 
2002, the court approved Chiquita’s plan of reorganization under 
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Under the plan, over 
$700 million in principal and accrued interest related to Chiquita’s 
public debt was converted into common equity. As a result, Infinity 
received approximately 14,400 “new” shares in the reorganized 
company plus warrants expiring in 2009 to purchase an additional 
240,000 shares at $19.23 per share. All of the common shares were 
sold in 2002 and the warrants were sold in September of 2003.

NOTE 6—INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory 
rate of 35% and income taxes as shown in the Consolidated 
Statement of Earnings (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,  

 2004 2003 2002  

Earnings before income taxes $ 129,461 $ 87,404 $ 70,933 
Income taxes at statutory rate $ 45,311 $ 30,591 $ 24,827 
Effect of:
 Dividends received deduction (217) (368) (450)
 Tax-exempt interest (1,814) (1,061) 0 
 Adjustment to valuation 
  allowance (7,447) 0 0 
 Other (2,770) 6 686  

Provision for income taxes as 
 shown on the Consolidated
 Statement of Operations $ 33,063 $ 29,168 $ 25,063  

 GAAP Effective Tax Rate 25.5% 33.4% 35.3%

The total income tax provision (credit) consists of (in thousands):

Current $ 36,149 $ 31,124 $ 34,070 
Deferred (3,086) (1,956) (9,007)

 $ 33,063 $ 29,168 $ 25,063  
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The Infinity consolidated tax group generated capital losses in 
2003 in addition to the capital loss carryforward from AFG. The 
tax benefit of the capital loss carryforwards at December 31, 
2004 is (in millions):

 Expiring  Amount

Capital loss carryforward 2007 $18.3
Capital loss carryforward 2008 8.1

As shown in the following chart, at December 31, 2004 the 
deferred taxes relating to the capital loss carryforwards have been 
fully offset by the valuation allowance. Therefore, in the future, the 
tax benefit from the utilization of any of these capital loss 
carryforwards will be reflected in current tax expense and will 
impact the effective tax rate calculation for that period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
recognized for financial purposes and the amounts recognized for 
tax purposes. The significant components of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were 
as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months
Ended 

December 31,  

 2004  2003 

Deferred tax assets:
 Discount on loss reserves $ 17.4 $ 19.9
 Unearned premium reserve 26.3 22.7
 Net operating loss carryforward 0.0 1.2
 Net capital loss carryforward 26.4 27.2
 Alternative minimum tax credit 0.0 2.5
 Other, net 13.5  9.8 

83.6 83.3
 Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (26.4) (33.8)

57.2 49.5
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Deferred policy acquisition costs (24.0) (17.8)
 Depreciation and amortization (1.4) (3.0)
 Investment securities (12.5) (15.4)

 (37.9) (36.2)

 Net deferred tax assets $ 19.3  $ 13.3 

The gross deferred tax asset has been reduced by a valuation 
allowance based on an analysis of the likelihood of realization. 
Factors considered in assessing the need for a valuation allowance 
include: (i) opportunities to generate taxable income from sales of 
appreciated assets to allow for the utilization of net capital loss 

carryovers, and (ii) the likelihood of generating larger amounts of 
taxable income in the future to allow for the utilization of deductible 
temporary differences. The likelihood of realizing deferred tax 
assets will be reviewed periodically; any adjustments required to 
the valuation allowance will be made in the period in which the 
developments on which they are based become known.

Changes in Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance
Operating loss carryforwards decreased by $1.2 million from 
2003 to 2004 as a result of utilizing the operating loss 
carryforward in the 2003 consolidated federal income tax return 
filed for the Infinity companies. The operating loss carryforward 
was generated while the Infinity companies were included in the 
AFC tax group. Capital loss carryforwards decreased by $0.8 
million from 2003 to 2004 due to a $3.9 million increase in the 
losses recognized by the Infinity companies at the IPO date for 
which AFC was not able to fully utilize in their consolidated federal 
income tax return. There was an offsetting decrease of $4.7 
million due to the utilization of capital loss carryforwards in 2004. 
The alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) credit decreased by $2.5 
million from 2003 to 2004 as a result of fully utilizing the AMT 
credit in the 2003 consolidated federal income tax return for the 
Infinity companies.

The valuation allowance decreased by $7.4 million from 2003 to 
2004 primarily as a result of utilization of the operating loss 
carryforward in the 2003 consolidated federal income tax return 
and the utilization of a portion of the capital loss carryforwards in 
2004. There was also a reduction to the tax reserve, generated 
while the Infinity companies were included in the AFC tax group, 
of $2.0 million from 2003 to 2004.

NOTE 7—COMPUTATIONS OF EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table illustrates the reconciliation of the denominators 
in Infinity’s computations of basic and diluted earnings per common 
share (in thousands, except per share figures):

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 

 2004  2003  2002

Net earnings $ 96,398 $ 58,236 $45,870
Basic average shares outstanding 20,560 20,348 N/A
Basic EPS $ 4.69 $ 2.86 N/A
Basic average shares outstanding 20,560 20,348 N/A
Restricted stock not vested 96 117 N/A
Dilutive effect of assumed 
 option exercises 203  130  N/A

Average diluted shares outstanding 20,859 20,594 N/A
Diluted EPS $ 4.62 $ 2.83 N/A
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NOTE 8—EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

Infinity established the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) in 
2004. Under this plan, all eligible full-time employees may 
purchase shares of Infinity common stock at a 15% discount to the 
current market price. Employees may participate up to 25% of 
their base salary with a maximum annual participation amount of 
$25,000. If a participant sells any shares purchased under the 
plan within one year, that employee is precluded from participating 
in the plan for one year from the date of sale. The source of 
shares issued to participants is treasury shares and/or authorized 
but previously unissued shares. Infinity’s ESPP is qualified under 
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
(“the Code”) and so Infinity does not recognize the 15% market 
discount as expense in its financial statements. Participants’ shares 
are issued and outstanding for earnings per share calculations. 

Infinity established the 2002 Stock Option Plan to enable it to 
attract and motivate its employees and to encourage the identification 
of their interests with those of Infinity’s shareholders.The plan 
provides for the grant of incentive stock options that are qualified 
under the Code and for the grant of nonqualified stock options.

The maximum number of shares of Infinity’s common stock for 
which options may be granted under the plan is 2,000,000 
(subject to antidilution provisions). Infinity’s Compensation Committee 
administers the plan. Each member of the Committee is an “outside 
director,” as such term is defined under Section 162(m) of the 
Code, and a “non-employee director” as defined in Rule 16b-3(b) 
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Subject to specific limitations contained in the plan, Infinity’s Board 
of Directors has the ability to amend, suspend or terminate the plan 
at any time without shareholder approval. Unless earlier terminated, 
the plan may continue in effect until December 16, 2012.

Options generally expire ten years after the date of grant, though 
the Committee can provide for a shorter term for a particular grant. 
Generally, subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee, 
20% of the shares underlying an option will become exercisable 
upon the first anniversary of the date of grant, and 20% become 
exercisable on each subsequent anniversary. Options issued to 
non-employee directors are immediately exercisable. Exercise 
prices for options granted under the plan may not be less than the 
fair market value on the date of grant. The Compensation Committee 
has broad discretion in determining the terms of the grant of 
awards under the plan, subject to the restrictions outlined above. 
Upon a change of control, as defined in the plan, all outstanding 
options will immediately vest in full and become exercisable.

Payment for shares purchased upon exercise of an option must be 
made in cash. The Committee, however, may permit payment by 
delivery of shares of common stock already owned by the 
optionee having a fair market value equal to the cash option price 
of the shares, by assigning the proceeds of a sale or loan with 
respect to some or all of the shares being acquired (subject to 
applicable law), by a combination of the foregoing or by any 
other method.

Persons who receive options incur no federal income tax liability at 
the time of grant. Persons exercising nonqualified options recognize 
taxable income, and Infinity has a tax deduction at the time of 
exercise to the extent of the difference between market price on 
the day of exercise and the exercise price. Persons exercising 
incentive stock options do not recognize taxable income until they 
sell the underlying common stock. Sales within two years of the 
date of grant or one year of the date of exercise result in taxable 
income to the holder and a deduction for Infinity, both measured 
by the difference between the market price at the time of sale and 
the exercise price. Sales after such period are treated as capital 
transactions to the holder, and Infinity receives no deduction. The 
foregoing is only a summary of the federal income tax rules 
applicable to options granted under the plan and is not intended 
to be complete. In addition, this summary does not discuss the 
effect of the income or other tax laws of any state or foreign 
country in which a participant may reside.

The following chart describes activity for Infinity’s Stock Option Plan 
for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004

Number of Weighted Average
Options Outstanding Options  Exercise Price

As of January 1, 2004 419,180 $16.11
Granted 214,000 $33.56
Exercised (13,700) $16.00
Forfeited (16,000) $24.79

As of December 31, 2004 603,480  $ 22.07

Number of Options Remaining
Exercise Price Outstanding  Exercisable  Contractual Life

$16.00 392,480 82,496 8.1 years
$25.56 5,000 5,000 8.7 years
$33.58 203,500 10,000 9.1 years
$31.94 2,500  2,500 9.4 years

 603,480  99,996
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2003

Number of Weighted Average
Options Outstanding Options  Exercise Price

As of January 1, 2003 — —
Granted 425,180 $16.11
Exercised (2,500) $16.00
Forfeited (3,500) $16.00

As of December 31, 2003 419,180  $16.11

Number of Options Remaining
Exercise Price Outstanding  Exercisable   Contractual Life

$16.00 414,180 5,000 9.2 years
$25.56 5,000  5,000 9.7 years

 419,180  10,000

Infinity’s Restricted Stock Plan was also established in 2002. There 
were 500,000 shares of Infinity common stock reserved for 
issuance under the Restricted Stock Plan.

As permitted under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation,” Infinity accounts for stock options and other stock-
based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed 
by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees.” The fair value of shares issued under 
Infinity’s Restricted Stock Plan is recorded as unearned 
compensation and expensed over the vesting periods of the 
awards. Under Infinity’s Stock Option Plan, options are granted to 
officers, directors and key employees at exercise prices equal to 
the fair value of the shares at the dates of grant. No compensation 
expense is recognized for stock option grants. 

The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings (in 
thousands) and earnings per share had compensation cost related 
to stock options been determined and recognized based on “fair 

values” at grant dates consistent with the method prescribed by 
SFAS No. 123. For SFAS No. 123 purposes, the “fair values” were 
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. There is 
no single reliable method to determine the actual value of options 
at grant date. Accordingly, the actual value of the option grants 
may be higher or lower than the SFAS No. 123 “fair value.”

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,  

 2004  2003 

Net earnings, as reported $ 96,398 $ 58,236
Pro forma stock option expense (1,143) (477)

Adjusted net earnings $ 95,255  $ 57,759 

Earnings per share (as reported):
Basic $ 4.69 $ 2.86
Diluted $ 4.62 $ 2.83
Earnings per share (adjusted):
Basic $ 4.63 $ 2.84
Diluted $ 4.57 $ 2.81

The following table illustrates the assumptions used to obtain the 
pro forma stock option expense figures. All data presented is 
inception-to-date as of the dates indicated.

As of December 31,  

 2004  2003 

Assumptions:
Options outstanding 603,480 419,180
Weighted average:
Fair value per option granted $13.87 $5.98
Dividend yield 1.2% 1.4%
Expected volatility 33.0% 33.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 4.0%
Expected option life 7.5 years 7.5 years
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NOTE 9—BENEFIT PLANS

Infinity provides retirement benefits for all eligible employees by 
matching contributions made on a discretionary basis to partici-
pants’ accounts in the Infinity 401(k) Retirement Plan. Eligible 
employees may contribute up to a maximum of the lesser of 
$13,000 per year or 25% of the participant’s salary. Infinity retains 
the right to make discretionary supplemental contributions to the 
accounts of plan participants. The matching percentage made by 
Infinity is 100% of participants’ contributions up to a ceiling of 3% 
of participants’ earnings. The plan expense was $6.3 million and 
$5.7 million for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 
2004 and 2003, respectively. Infinity employees participated in 
the AFG 401(k) plan in 2002.

Additionally, Infinity’s Supplemental Retirement Plan is a nonqualified 
deferred compensation plan that allows certain highly compensated 
employees to receive the full discretionary employer contribution 
that is precluded by the provisions of the 401(k) Retirement Plan or 
by law due to limits on compensation.

Infinity maintains for certain highly-compensated employees, a 
qualified deferred compensation plan, which permits the partici- 
pants to defer a portion of their salaries and bonuses. The deferred 
amounts accrue interest at Infinity’s approximate long-term 
borrowing rate. The deferred amounts are a general obligation 
liability of Infinity and amounted to $1.5 million and $0.9 million 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Interest credited 
by Infinity was approximately $74,000 and $49,000 for these 
same time periods.

Infinity also provides postretirement medical and life insurance 
benefits to retirees. The benefit obligation was allocated to Infinity 
from the former AFG plan in late 2002 in anticipation of the initial 
public offering. Data related to this plan is shown in the following 
tables (in thousands). This data does not reflect the impact of the 
subsidy provided by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, 
and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”). The Company has 
not been able to conclude that the benefits provided under this 
plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D benefits under 
the Act. Infinity does not expect this legislation to have a material 
effect on its net benefit obligation or plan costs.

 2004  2003 

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $3,819 $3,620
 Service cost 233 251
 Interest cost 238 255
 Participant contributions 80 57
 Plan amendments — (444)
 Actuarial loss 168 304
 Gross benefits paid (271) (224)

Net benefit obligation at end of year $4,267  $3,819 

Weighted average assumptions 
 used to determine benefit 
 obligations 2004  2003

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00%
Health care cost trend on 
 covered charges 10.4% decreasing 10% decreasing

to 5% in 2008 to 5% in 2009 

A one-percentage point change in the assumed healthcare cost 
trend rate would have the following effect on the postretirement 
benefit obligation:

 2004 2003  

1% increase $ 284 $ 54
1% decrease (276) (48)

Plan assets 2004 2003 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ — $ —
 Actual return on plan assets — —
 Employer contributions 191 167
 Participant contributions 80 57
 Gross benefits paid (271) (224)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ — $ — 

Expected future benefit payments 2004 2003  

2004 $ N/A $ 191
2005 266 233
2006 298 277
2007 316 312
2008 327 348
2009 329 N/A
2010–2014 1,580 2,160

Funded status: 2004  2003 

Fair value of plan assets $ — $ —
Benefit obligations 4,267 3,819
Funded status at end of year (4,267) (3,819)
Contributions made after the measurement date 48 47
Unrecognized actuarial net (gain) loss 472 304
Unrecognized prior service cost (377) (444)

Net amount recognized at end of year $(4,124) $(3,912)

NOTE 10—QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

While insurance premiums are recognized on a relatively level basis, 
claim losses related to adverse weather (snow, hail, hurricanes, 
tornadoes, etc.) may be seasonal. Quarterly results necessarily rely 
heavily on estimates and are not necessarily indicative of results 
for longer periods of time.
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The following are quarterly results of consolidated operations of Infinity for the two years ended December 31, 2004 (in millions):

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
 Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Year

2004          

Revenues $ 230.2 $ 238.4 $ 240.5 $ 242.7 $ 951.8
Net earnings 16.9 24.8 23.0 31.7 96.4
Earnings per share:
 Basic $ 0.82 $ 1.21 $ 1.12 $ 1.54 $ 4.69
 Diluted 0.81 1.19 1.10 1.52 4.62

2003          

Revenues $ 181.0 $ 180.3 $ 190.0 $ 217.7 $ 769.0
Net earnings 11.5 12.3 15.0 19.4 58.2
Earnings per share:
 Basic $ 0.57 $ 0.60 $ 0.73 $ 0.96 $ 2.86
 Diluted 0.57 0.60 0.72 0.94 2.83

Realized gains (losses) on securities amounted to (in millions):

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
 Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Year

2004 $ 1.6 $ 1.4 $ 2.8 $ 1.1 $ 6.9
2003 0.3 0.2 0.8 (0.3) 1.0

NOTE 11—INSURANCE RESERVES

The following table provides an analysis of changes in the liability 
for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance (and 
grossed up), over the past two years on a GAAP basis (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,  

 2004  2003  2002 

Gross unpaid losses and LAE $ 714 $ 607 $ 648 
Less: reinsurance recoverables (30) (33) (37)

Balance at beginning of period 684 574 611
Addition of Assumed Agency Business — 126 — 

700
Provision for losses and LAE
 occurring in the current year 618 543 527
Net increase (decrease) in provision
 for claims of prior years(a) (15) 14  1  

Total losses and LAE incurred 603 557 528
Payments for losses and LAE of:
 Current year (322) (233) (252)
 Prior years (323) (340) (313)

  Total payments (645) (573) (565)
Balance at end of period 642  684 574 

Add back reinsurance recoverables 17  30  33 

Gross unpaid losses and LAE included
 in the Balance Sheet $ 659  $ 714  $ 607  

(a) Includes the assumption of the Agency Business

During calendar year 2002, the NSA Group settled, for $5.1 million, 
a state class action lawsuit involving the issue of whether there is 
an inherent diminished value in a damaged automobile that should 
be accounted for when calculating claim payments. The settlement 
increased the reserve deficiency for the 2001 calendar year-end 
reserves by $5.1 million. During calendar year 2003, $14 million 
of adverse loss and LAE reserve development occurred primarily 
due to business from New York, partially offset by other reserve 
releases. During calendar year 2004, Infinity enjoyed $15 million 
of favorable reserve development, primarily from continued 
favorable development in accident year 2003 on claim frequency 
on the California book of business, offset partially by continued 
unfavorable development in accident years 2000–2002, primarily 
from LAE on the declining New York book of business.

NOTE 12—REINSURANCE

During 2002, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries participated in a 
reinsurance agreement with Inter-Ocean under which Infinity 
agreed to cede 90% of its automobile physical damage business 
written through December 2002. This agreement was renewed for 
2003 on terms substantially equivalent to those in effect in 2002, 
except that Infinity could elect on a quarterly basis to reduce the 
amount ceded from 90% to 20% of the policies effective in the 
last two quarters of 2003. In 2004, Infinity entered into a 
reinsurance agreement with American Re on substantially similar 
terms as through the Inter-Ocean agreement except that (i) the 



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

Assumed Agency Business was not included and (ii) minimum 
cession under the agreement was 10% as compared to 20% in the 
Inter-Ocean agreement. Under these agreements, Infinity retained 
all of the ceded premiums to fund ceded losses as they became 
due from the reinsurers. Interest was credited to the reinsurers for 
funds held on their behalf. Premiums ceded under these agreements 
were $14 million, $170 million and $296 million for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. In addition, premiums ceded for the Assumed Agency 
Business were $22 million and $79 million for the twelve-month 
periods ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Interest 
credited, which is reported as a reduction of net investment income, 
was $1.5 million, $6.2 million and $7.6 million for the twelve-
month periods ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. Infinity commuted the 2001 agreement in 2003 and 
the 2003 and 2004 agreements on December 31, 2004 and 
did not renew any agreement for 2005.

In addition, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries assume a limited amount 
of other business, primarily from affiliates of AFG. The following 
table shows (in millions): (i) written and earned premiums included 
in income for reinsurance assumed, (ii) amounts deducted from 
written and earned premiums in connection with reinsurance 
ceded and (iii) reinsurance recoveries deducted from losses and 
loss adjustment expenses. 

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,  

 2004  2003  2002 

Direct premiums written $ 861 $ 846 $ 873
Reinsurance assumed 103 159 42
Reinsurance ceded (46) (187) (302)

Net written premiums $ 918 $ 818 $ 613 

Direct premiums earned $ 831 $ 833 $ 906
Reinsurance assumed 115 123 46
Reinsurance ceded (74) (257) (306)

Net earned premiums $ 872  $ 699  $ 646 

Reinsurance recovered $ 38  $ 132  $ 174 

NOTE 13—STATUTORY INFORMATION 

Insurance companies are required to file financial statements with 
state insurance regulatory authorities prepared on an accounting 
basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutory basis).
Net earnings (loss) and policyholders’ surplus on a statutory basis 
were as follows (in millions):

Net Earnings (Loss)  Policyholders’ Surplus

2004  2003  2002  2004  2003

$87.2 $(23.5) $65.6 $507.2 $446.1

For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 and 
December 31, 2002, statutory results differed from net earnings 
on a GAAP basis primarily due to the amortization of deferred 
acquisition costs. 

For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003, statutory 
results differed from net earnings on a GAAP basis due to (i) a 
realized loss from the write-off of an investment in Penn Central 
U.K. Limited and its insurance subsidiary of $55 million for statutory 
purposes and (ii) amortization of deferred acquisition costs. For 
GAAP purposes, the $55 million loss from the insurance subsidiary 
has been recorded in the NSA Group’s financial statements prior 
to 2003 using the equity method of accounting. 

NOTE 14—ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Allowances for Uncollectible Accounts
Agents’ balances and premiums receivable included in the balance 
sheet are shown net of allowances for uncollectible accounts. The 
provision for such losses is included in other operating and general 
expenses. A progression of the aggregate allowance follows  
(in millions):

 2004  2003  2002 

Beginning balance $ 7.9 $ 8.9 $ 10.1
Provision for losses 14.6 10.5 14.1
Uncollectible amounts written off (11.0) (11.5) (15.3)

Ending balance $ 11.5  $ 7.9  $ 8.9 
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Restrictions on Transfer of Funds and Assets of Subsidiaries
Payments of dividends, loans and advances by Infinity’s insurance 
subsidiaries are subject to various state laws, federal regulations 
and debt covenants which limit the amount of dividends, loans 
and advances that can be paid. Under applicable restrictions, the 
maximum amount of dividends payable in 2005 from Infinity’s 
insurance subsidiaries without seeking regulatory clearance is 
approximately $63 million. Additional amounts of dividends, loans 
and advances require regulatory approval.

Rent Expense
Total rental expense for various leases of office space and equip-
ment was $22.3 million, $20.7 million, and $15.2 million for the 
twelve month periods ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 
2002, respectively. 

Future minimum rentals, primarily related to office space, required 
under operating leases having initial or remaining lease terms in 
excess of one year at December 31, 2004 were as follows: 
2005–$17.6 million; 2006–$17.4 million; 2007–$16.5 million; 
2008–$15.1 million; 2009–$10.2 million and $28.2 million 
thereafter. 

Future sublease revenue was $1.3 million for 2005, 2006 and 
2007, $1.2 million for 2008, $1.1 million for 2009 and $0.7 
million thereafter.

Contingencies
Infinity is subject to litigation resulting principally from normal 
insurance activities. Management believes that the outcome of 
such matters will not have a material effect upon Infinity’s 
consolidated financial position.

Related Party Transactions
In December 2003, AFG sold its remaining holdings of Infinity 
common stock through a secondary public offering. As of that 
date, Infinity no longer was an affiliate with AFG.

Various business had transacted between Infinity and AFG and its 
subsidiaries while AFG was affiliated with the Company, including 
insurance, computer processing and programming, payroll 
processing, office rental and sales of assets. Aggregate charges 
for these items were insignificant in relation to revenues.

Infinity’s investment portfolio is managed by a subsidiary of AFG.
Net investment income includes investment management charges 
of $2.0 million in 2003 and $1.8 million in 2002.

Infinity has purchased and sold securities at fair value in transactions 
with AFG subsidiaries; it has also transferred securities to its former 
parent in the form of capital distributions and received securities 
from its former parent as capital contributions. Such purchases, sales 
and transfers and related realized gains (losses) were as follows 
(in millions):

 Acquisitions  Dispositions  Realized Losses 

2003 $114.7(a) $  4.7 $(0.6)
2002 — 102.7 (7.9)

(a)  Consists entirely of securities transferred from AFG to Infinity to support the net 
reserves of the Assumed Agency Business. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors 
Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets (excluding 
investments) and liabilities to be transferred of the Personal Lines 
Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company as of 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related statements of 
underwriting gains and losses and underwriting cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002.
These statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

The accompanying statements were prepared for the purpose of 
complying with the rules and regulations of the Securities and 

 
 
 
Exchange Commission for inclusion in the Form 10-K of Infinity 
Property and Casualty Corporation, and as described in Note 1, 
are not intended to be a complete presentation of the Company’s 
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows.

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of assets (excluding 
investments) and liabilities to be transferred, underwriting gains 
and losses and underwriting cash flows present fairly, in all 
material respects, the assets (excluding investments) and liabilities 
to be transferred of the Personal Lines Agency Business of Great 
American Insurance Company at December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
and its underwriting results and underwriting cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio 
March 18, 2003
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Statement of Assets (excluding Investments) 
and Liabilities to be Transferred

Year Ended December 31,

 2002  2001

Assets (excluding Investments) to be Transferred:
 Agents’ balances $ 37,015 $ 44,632
 Deferred policy acquisition costs 11,152 24,538
 Goodwill 4,954 4,954
 Other assets 414  4,684

 $ 53,535  $ 78,808

Liabilities to be Transferred:
 Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 125,623 $ 115,885
 Unearned premiums 47,978 80,941
 Other liabilities 5,199  3,680

 $ 178,800  $ 200,506

Statement of Underwriting Gains and Losses

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,  

 2002 2001 

Earned premiums $ 107,224 $ 149,925
Losses and Expenses:
 Losses and loss adjustment expenses 91,064 121,811
 Commissions and other 
  underwriting expenses 26,189 42,819 

Underwriting loss $ (10,029) $ (14,705)

Statement of Underwriting Cash Flows
Twelve Months Ended 

December 31,  
 2002 2001 

Premiums collected $ 81,878 $ 154,113
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid (81,326) (111,806)
Commissions and other underwriting 
 expenses paid (10,346) (46,092)

Cash used by underwriting $ (9,794) $ (3,785)

Background and Basis of Presentation
Great American Insurance Company (“GAI”) is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of American Financial Group, Inc. Through a 
reinsurance agreement effective January 1, 2003, GAI transferred 
its personal lines business written through independent agents (the 
“Assumed Agency Business”) to Infinity Property and Casualty 
Corporation (“Infinity”). Under the reinsurance agreement, GAI also 
transferred to Infinity assets (primarily investment securities) with a 
market value of approximately $125.3 million.

The accompanying statements have been prepared from the 
historical accounting records of GAI and present the assets 
(excluding investments) and liabilities to be transferred, the related 
underwriting gains and losses and underwriting cash flows 
attributable to the Assumed Agency Business. The Assumed Agency 
Business represents a portion of AFG’s Personal Lines segment of 
operations and is not a separate legal entity. Accordingly, this 
business does not have a separate investment portfolio or equity 
structure. For these reasons, the financial records necessary for 
complete financial statements including investments, investment 
results, and tax provisions do not exist.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Changes in 
circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those estimates.

Accounting Policies

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”)
Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium taxes 
and other marketing and underwriting expenses) related to the 
production of new business are deferred and charged against 
income ratably over the terms of the related policies. The method 
followed in computing DPAC limits the amount of such costs to 
their estimated realizable value without any consideration for 
anticipated investment income.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of 
investigation and adjustment of unpaid claims are based upon  
(a) the accumulation of case estimates for losses reported prior to 
the close of the accounting period on direct business written;  
(b) estimates received from ceding reinsurers and insurance pools 
and associations; (c) estimates of unreported losses based on past 
experience; (d) estimates based on experience of expenses for 
investigating and adjusting claims and (e) the current state of the 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Personal Lines Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company 
Notes to Financial Statements
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Personal Lines Agency Business of Great American Insurance Company 
Financial Statements (In thousands) 
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law and coverage litigation. These liabilities are subject to the 
impact of changes in claim amounts and frequency and other 
factors. Changes in estimates of the liabilities for losses and loss 
adjustment expenses are reflected in the Statement of Underwriting 
Gains and Losses in the period in which determined. In spite of 
the variability inherent in such estimates, management believes 
that the liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 
are adequate.

Premium Recognition
Premiums are earned over the terms of the policies on a pro rata 
basis. Unearned premiums represent that portion of premiums written 
which is applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force.

Reinsurance
Effective January 1, 2002, GAI entered into a reinsurance agreement 
with Inter-Ocean Reinsurance (Ireland) Limited, under which GAI 
agreed to cede 90% of its automobile physical damage business 
written through December 2002. This agreement was renewed for 
2003 on terms substantially equivalent to those in effect in 2002. 
Premiums ceded under this agreement were $78.5 million in 2002.

Quarterly Operating Results (Unaudited)
While insurance premiums are recognized on a relatively level 
basis, claim losses related to adverse weather (snow, hail, hurricanes, 
tornadoes, etc.) may be seasonal. Quarterly results necessarily 
rely heavily on estimates and are not necessarily indicative of 
results for longer periods of time.

The following are quarterly results of operations of the Assumed 
Agency Business for the two years ended December 31, 2002  
(in millions).

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year 

2002           

Earned premiums $39.5 $41.4 $ 3.8 $22.5 $107.2
Underwriting loss (2.7) (1.5) (4.2) (1.6) (10.0)

2001           

Earned premiums $35.2 $37.4 $39.0 $38.3 $149.9
Underwriting loss (1.2) (1.4) (4.7) (7.4) (14.7)

Insurance Reserves
The following table provides an analysis of changes in the liability 
for losses and loss adjustment expenses over the past two years 
on a GAAP basis (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 

 2002  2001 

Balance at beginning of period $116 $106
Provision for losses and LAE occurring in the current year 84 118
Net increase in provision for claims of prior years 7  4 

  Total losses and LAE incurred 91 122
Payments for losses and LAE of:
 Current year (31) (62)
 Prior years (50)  (50)

  Total payments (81)  (112)

Balance at end of period $126  $116 
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Annual Meeting:
The Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of Infinity Property and 
Casualty Corporation will be held at the Embassy Suites, 2300 
Woodcrest Place, Birmingham, Alabama 35209 on Tuesday, 
May 10, 2005 at 10:00 a.m. central time. There were 13 
shareholders of record on March 1, 2005, which the Company 
believes represent approximately 4,250 beneficial holders.

Common Stock and Dividends:
The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASDAQ National 
Market under the symbol IPCC.

The quarterly high and low closing sales prices per share of the 
common stock as reported by NASDAQ follow:

Stock Prices Dividend
Quarter Ended: High  Low  Declared

March 31, 2004 $38.29 $28.94 $0.055
June 30, 2004 $33.60 $28.97 $0.055
September 30, 2004 $33.09 $26.24 $0.055
December 31, 2004 $37.15 $27.94 $0.055

March 31, 2003 $18.40 $15.60 —
June 30, 2003 $24.55 $17.51 $0.055
September 30, 2003 $29.15 $22.65 $0.055
December 31, 2003 $34.82 $27.55 $0.055

Quarterly dividends, if any, are declared by the Board of Directors 
at meetings held on or about the second Tuesday of February, 
May, August, and November.

Shareholder Communications:
For access to all news releases and other Company information 
visit the Infinity website at www.ipacc.com. To obtain an investor 
package free of charge, including a copy of Form 10-K, please 
call (205) 803-8186 or write to:

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation
Attn: Investor Relations
3700 Colonnade Parkway
Birmingham, AL 35243d
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